
 
Tony Kershaw 
Director of Law and Assurance 
 
If calling please ask for: 
 
Erica Keegan on 033 022 26050 
Email: erica.keegan@westsussex.gov.uk 
 
www.westsussex.gov.uk 
 

 
County Hall  
Chichester 
West Sussex  
PO19 1RQ 
Switchboard  
Tel no (01243) 777100 

 

29 June 2022 

West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 

A meeting of the Committee will be held at 10.30 am on Thursday, 7 July 2022 
at Council Chamber, County Hall, Chichester, PO19 1RQ. 
 

The meeting will be available to watch live via the Internet at this 
address: 

 
http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home. 

 
Tony Kershaw 
Director of Law and Assurance 

 
 Agenda 

  
10.30 am 1.   Chairman's Welcome  

  
10.35 am 2.   Declaration of Interests  

 
  Members and officers must declare any pecuniary or personal 

interest in any business on the agenda.  They should also make 
declarations at any stage such an interest becomes apparent 
during the meeting. Consideration should be given to leaving 
the meeting if the nature of the interest warrants it; if in doubt 
contact Democratic Services before the meeting. 
  

 3.   Urgent Matters  
 

  Items not on the agenda that the Chairman of the Board is of 
the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency by 
reason of special circumstances. 
  

 4.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 10) 
 

  The Board is asked to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board held on 28 April 2022. 
  

10.40 am 5.   Public Forum  
 

  The Board invites questions and comments from the public for 
consideration at the meeting. Contact Erica Keegan on 
telephone: 033 022 26050 (a local call) or via email: 
erica.keegan@westsussex.gov.uk  
  
  

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
mailto:erica.keegan@westsussex.gov.uk


  
10.50 am 6.   Children First Board Report (Pages 11 - 102) 

 
  The Children First Board, being accountable to the West Sussex 

Health and Wellbeing Board, as a sub-group of the Board, will 
provide a formal update at its quarterly public meetings. 
  

11.00 am 7.   West Sussex COVID19 Local Outbreak Engagement Board 
Report (Pages 103 - 106) 
 

  The Local Outbreak Engagement Board, being accountable to 
the West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board, as a sub-group of 
the Board, will provide a formal update. 
  

11.10 am 8.   Public Health Update  
 

  The Director of Public Health will provide a verbal update on 
current public health matters. 
  

11.25 am 9.   Public Health Priorities 2022/23 (West Sussex Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2024) (To Follow) 
 

  Focused on the West Sussex Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2019-2024, this item will further contribute to 
identifying priorities for the Board’s workplan for 2022/23 to 
tackle issues locally, to improve the health of the population 
and reduce health inequalities across West Sussex. 
  

11.40 am 10.   West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 
2021/22 (Pages 107 - 132) 
 

  The Assistant Director (Safeguarding planning performance) will 
present the report on the West Sussex Safeguarding Adults 
Board that outlines the work progressed by the Board in the 
past year.   
  

12.00 pm 11.   West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board 3 Year Strategy 
2022/25 (Pages 133 - 140) 
 

  The Assistant Director (Safeguarding planning performance) will 
present the report from the West Sussex Safeguarding Adults 
Board that outlines the plans in place to progress new 
objectives over the coming years. 
  

12.15 pm 12.   Better Care Fund Monitoring Q4 2021/22 (Pages 141 - 
148) 
 

  This paper summarises performance against the Better Care 
Fund national metrics for Quarter 4 2021/22 and provides a 
brief overview of Better Care Fund (BCF) planning expectations 
for 2022/23 and beyond, pending publication of guidance.  
  
 

 

Page 2



 
12.25 pm 13.   Work Programme (Pages 149 - 150) 

 
  To note the work programme for 22/23 as attached. Members 

of the Board are requested to mention any items which they 
believe to be of relevance to the business of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. If any member puts forward an item the 
Board is asked to assess briefly whether to refer the matter to 
the Chairman to consider in detail for future inclusion. 
  

12.35 pm 14.   Date of next Meeting  
 

  The next meeting of the Board will be held at 10.30am on 3 
November 2022. 
 

 
 
 
To all members of the West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
 
 

Webcasting 
 

Please note: this meeting is being filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 
County Council’s website on the internet. The images and sound recording may be 
used for training purposes by the Council. 
 
Generally the public gallery is not filmed. However, by entering the meeting room and 
using the public seating area you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible 
use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
28 April 2022 – At a meeting of the West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 
held at 10.30 am at Council Chamber, County Hall, Chichester PO19 1RQ and via 
Microsoft Teams. 
 
Present: Cllr Bob Lanzer (Chairman) 
 
Cllr Amanda Jupp, Cllr Jacquie Russell, Keith Hinkley, Alison Challenger, Chris 
Clark, Emily King, Pennie Ford, Natalie Brahma-Pearl, Catherine Howe, 
Helen Rice, Annie Callanan, Cllr Garry Wall and Jess Sumner 
 
Apologies were received from Cllr Duncan Crow, Lucy Butler, Dr Laura Hill,  
Jane Padmore and Katrina Broadhill 
 
Also in attendance: Dan Charlton, Emma Cross and Paul Wagstaff 

 
  

1.    Chairman's Welcome  
 

1.1      The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting and spoke of 
‘Living with Covid-19’ saying that health and systems’ leaders 
continued to work together to make the most effective use of 
combined resources to help keep West Sussex safe and he 
emphasised the importance of the vaccination programme. 

  
1.2      The Chairman also spoke of work done to raise awareness of ‘No 

Smoking Day’ and the health/financial benefits of quitting smoking. 
  

2.    Declaration of Interests  
 
2.1       There were no declarations. 
  

3.    Minutes  
 
3.1   Resolved – that the minutes of the meeting held on 27 January 2022 

are approved as a correct record and are signed by the Chairman. 
  

4.    Public Forum  
 
4.1    A question was received, shortly before the start of the meeting, 

about wait times for autism assessments including from initial contact 
with the Children & Adolescent Mental Health Service and the 
exclusion criteria for not being offered an assessment - a response 
would be provided. 

  
5.    Children First Board (a sub-group of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board)  
 
5.1        The Board considered a report by the Children First Board (copy 

appended to the signed minutes). The following points were covered 
in discussions: - 

  

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



         Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SPFT) was 
developing an early intervention service for young people with 
the voluntary sector and other partners 

         There had been a pan-Sussex meeting to scope pathways 
concerning child mental health to improve provision 

         The Council was looking at ways to engage with young people so 
they can get access when needed and was working with SPFT for 
ways to support young people beyond the universal offer 

         Mental health first aiders were available in schools to identify 
children who needed support 

         The Council was looking at improving outcomes for 
disadvantaged children and was aware that early years children 
were also suffering due to the cost of living increase - 
consultation on the Children and Young People’s Plan will pick up 
these issues with workstreams to address them 

         Joint work needed to be done between the Council, Health and 
Public Health including sharing the consultation outcomes 

         Analysis of the consultation would determine how to develop 
services 

         Work was taking place on a young person’s version of the 
consultation and letting them know how to take part 

         Analysis of the consultation would feed into the annual 
Safeguarding Children’s report that is considered by the Board 

  
5.2     That the Health & Wellbeing Board notes the update from the 

Children First Board. 
  

6.    West Sussex COVID19 Local Outbreak Engagement Board  
 
6.1      The Board received its formal quarterly update from the West 

Sussex COVID-19 Local Outbreak Engagement Board (copy 
appended to the signed minutes).  In presenting this report, the 
Director of Public Health (DPH) sought feedback on the progress of 
the work of the LOEB since its previous update and asked the Board 
to consider how the LOEB could maximise its collaborative strength 
as we progress through the ‘Living with COVID-19’ stage of the 
pandemic. The following points were covered in discussion:- 
  
         COVID-19 Vaccination rates were generally good in the county 

although there were a few areas with low uptake – data was 
being regularly reviewed to see how this could be addressed 

         Data on vaccination rates is available on the Council’s website 
         The Council’s residents’ newsletter had become a very useful 

communication tool, through which information from various 
organisations could be streamlined through to increase 
engagement with residents and communities. 

  
6.2      Resolved – that the Board: - 
  
                             i.        Thanked those involved in delivering and supporting the NHS 

COVID-19 Vaccination Programme 
                            ii.        Agreed to reinstate the West Sussex Health & Wellbeing 

Board newsletter 
  

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



7.    Public Health Update  
 
7.1      The Board received a verbal update from the Director of Public 

Health covering the following: - 
  

      Testing for some vulnerable groups is still in place. 
       Although difficult to ascertain the true picture due to revised 

testing availability, data appears to show a reduction in the 
number of cases testing positive for COVID-19. This is in line 
with the reductions seen across the Southeast and England. 

       The government’s ‘Living with covid’ plan was being 
implemented locally in West Sussex.  

       The NHS COVID-19 Vaccination Programme was going well with 
healthy 5 – 11 year olds now also being offered a vaccination. 

       The West Sussex Wellbeing Programme, which is delivered by 
district and borough councils, is going well and is celebrating 
more than 10 years of supporting people across the county. A 
dedicated website [West Sussex Wellbeing] also supports the 
programme. 

       The NHS Influenza Vaccination Programme will start in Autumn - 
approaches to inequalities to increase access and uptake across 
the local population, will build on that developed for delivery of 
the COVID-19 vaccination 

       A new report had recently been added to the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA) website on reducing drug use through 
a place-based approach. 

  
7.1      The following issues were discussed: - 
  

         The JSNA looks at policy drivers and gaps and is a tool for 
commissioning 

         Priority setting sessions would take place to include key 
stakeholders and members of the board, these will include 
homelessness and workforce issues 

         The Board would lead on tackling health inequalities across the 
county highlighted by the COVID-19 pandemic 

  
7.2      Resolved – that the Health & Wellbeing Board notes the update 
  

8.    Public Health Priorities 2022/23  
 
8.1    The Board considered a report and presentation by the Director of 

Public Health regarding the Government’s recently published and 
emerging national public health policy documents and the Chief 
Medical Officer (CMO) for England’s key messages regarding current 
public health priorities, including the impacts of the past two years 
of the COVID-19 pandemic (copies appended to the signed 
minutes). The following points were covered in discussions: - 

  
       Older people’s mental health and wellbeing, including depression 

and isolation is an important issue and would be addressed 
separately and in addition to that of Dementia 

       West Sussex has a tobacco control strategy. Vaping is included in 
this as one of the means to support smoking cessation 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



       The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is not a single 
document and includes a wide range of information [evidence 
base] of the health and wellbeing needs of the local population. 
This is regularly reviewed with additional information added 
when available. 

       Seminars and workshops for board members would be used to 
discuss health and wellbeing priorities for the county. 

  
8.2      Resolved – that the Board would like to discuss proposals for the 

next stage of implementing public health priorities across the county 
at its July meeting, taking into account learning from stakeholder 
sessions and benchmarking that has been progressed ahead of the 
meeting.  

  
  

9.    Better Care Fund  
 
9.1      The Board considered a report by the Assistant Director (Health 

Integration) (copy appended to the signed minutes). The following 
points were covered in discussions: - 

  
       A multi-agency hospital discharge model was needed to help 

reduce length of hospital stay 
       Capacity in the social care market was a real problem with 

recruitment being difficult in the sector and impacted by Covid-
19 with nursing home capacity down by 10% 

       The Council will work with West Sussex Partners in Care on a 
plan to address workforce issues 

  
9.2    Resolved – that the Board notes the update, including both the 

Quarter 3 Metrics Report and the update on the 2022-23 national 
planning progress. 

  
10.    Work Programme  

 
10.1         The Board considered its work programme and the following 

suggestions were made: - 
  

       Social care reforms 
       Cost of living implications  

  
10.2         Resolved – that: - 
  
                          i.          Social care reforms would be covered by the Adult Social Care 

Strategy 
                         ii.        Cost of living implications would be covered in the preparation 

work for the July meeting 
  

11.    Date of next Meeting  
 
11.1      The date of the next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

was confirmed as 7 July 2022. 
 

The meeting ended at 12.47 pm 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



 
 
 
 
 
 
Chairman

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Report to West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 

July 7th, 2022 

Update on the Children First Board (a sub-group of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board) 

Report by, Lucy Butler, Director Children, Young People and Learning 

 

Summary 

This report provides a brief quarterly update on the work of the Children First Board 

formed in October 2020, a sub-group of the West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 

Recommendation(s) to the Board  

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to; 

(1) Acknowledge and provide feedback on the progress of the Children First 
Board since its last quarterly update in April 2022, in particular, the 

development of the draft Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP), which 
has gone out to consultation with an accompanying survey. 

(2) Consider how the Health and Wellbeing Board, as key systems leaders 

across the county’s health and social care system, can continue to support 
the Children First Board to maximise its collective strength, supporting it to 
achieve its goals. 

 

Relevance to Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

1. Starting Well 
2. Living and 

Working Well 

 

1 Background and context 

 The Children First Board is chaired by Cllr Jacquie Russell, Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People.  Meetings are held four times a year, and the 

inaugural meeting was held on the 8 October 2020.   

 The Board is made up of a wide range of West Sussex organisations and 
groups– including young people, parent, carers and others who look after our 

children on a daily basis, practitioners and officers of the County Council; 
people elected to represent the views of the people of West Sussex, Districts 
and Boroughs, schools, colleges, police, health partners, and representatives 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6

http://www2.westsussex.gov.uk/ds/cttee/hwb/jhws2019to2024.pdf


 

 

from the voluntary and community sector.  The voice of young people is 

provided through four young people on the Board and the Board’s vice-chair is 
also a young person; Harley Collins. They are all supported by the Council’s 

Voice and Participation Team and to facilitate their participation, Board notes 
and papers are written in an accessible style.   

 

 The Children First Board has agreed three main goals 

These are to: 

• Improve outcomes for children and young people who live in West Sussex, 

or who are cared for by West Sussex’s children’s services;   

• Ensure that all agencies that provide services for children and young people 
in West Sussex work together effectively; 

• Always listen and respond to the views of children, young people and their 

families, particularly when decisions are being made that affect them such 
as how services are run and funded. 

1.4 To achieve these goals, the Children First Board will: 

• Have oversight of key strategic planning for children and young people’s 

services, especially when these plans affect more than one agency or 
service. 

• Always remember that our children and young people have the right to be: 

o kept safe by everyone, and to learn how to keep themselves safe; 

o supported to be as healthy as possible – both physically and 

emotionally; 

o given the skills to be successful in adult life. 

1.5 The Board will also: 

• Be responsible for determining the key priorities that need to be addressed 
to improve the lives of children and young people in West Sussex; 

• Agree how these will be addressed. 

2. The Children and Young People’s Plan update on progress  

2.1 One of the Board’s early priorities is the development and production of a 
Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP).  The Board agreed an approach and 
style for this Plan, with the latter being based on what children and young 

people and parent carers said would help to make it accessible. 

2.2. The three agreed priorities are: 

1. Keeping Children and Young People Safe  

2. Addressing Poverty and closing the disadvantage gap 

3. Improving emotional health and wellbeing.  

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



 

 

2.3 In the period since the last report to the Health and Well-Being Board, the draft 

CYPP with an accompanying survey has been put out for consultation. The 
consultation process started on April 4th 2022 and will finish on June 26th 2022. 

The primary focus of the survey on the draft plan is to find out what those who 
engage with it think about its proposed content; whether it is easy to 

understand; whether they feel we are focusing on the right things; the format 
of the final plan and whether, and how they would like to be involved in helping 
us to evaluate the impact of the Plan on the lives of children and young people 

and their families. 

2.4 To facilitate the engagement of children and young people with the draft plan 
 and secure their views on it we have generated, with the help of some  young 

 people, a child and young person friendly version of the plan and some 
 questions which are specifically for them to answer.  Such questions are about 
 the one thing they would really like to see in a plan to make things better for 

 children and young people; whether there is anything in the plan that they 
 don’t understand; what format(s) they would like the finished plan to be in; 

 how the plan could be made as accessible as possible to all children and young 
 people who may want to learn for themselves what it is and how it might 
 make their life better. The child and young person friendly version of the 

 plan has also been made into a video – delivered by young people from our 
 West Sussex Youth Cabinet. Both the written version of the plan and the video 

 have been made available to West Sussex schools and colleges.   

2.5 The output from the consultation so far, has been summarised in an interim 
 dashboard detailing information about the numbers of people who have so far: 

 looked at the draft CYPP; downloaded it and completed the survey. The 
 dashboard also sets out information about who has completed the survey and 
 some of the key themes that are emerging from the feedback.  This dashboard 

 is inclusive of the period: 3rd April – to 23rd May 2022.  

2.6 In summary, an estimated 200,000 individuals in West Sussex have received a 
 communication about the consultation; approximately 600 people have visited 

 and viewed the page and can be said to be “aware” of the draft plan; 49% of 
 that number can be said to be informed about the draft Plan as this includes 
 viewing key dates and/or downloading the draft Plan; 11% of those who have 

 visited the page can be said to have engaged with the Plan as they have 
 completed the survey; 16% of visitors have downloaded the draft Plan at least 

 once.  

2.7 To date, the majority of people who have completed the survey: are supportive 
 of the priorities in the draft Plan and the proposed outcomes; think that the 

 plan is accessible (in terms of language used); and found what they were 
 looking for.  

2.8 The feedback has also provided us with a wealth of suggestions and ideas 
 regarding what else might be included: either as priorities e.g. the suggestion 

 that SEND should be a priority in its own right; or included in our plans for 
 implementing the priorities e.g. in relation to partnership working the 

 suggestion that we need to continue to consider how we work collaboratively 
 and engage with children, young people, families and other stakeholders 
 (building on our collective strengths) as this will be important in  terms of 

 facilitating and embedding change and increasing a sense of ownership of 
 developments.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 

 

2.9 When we look at the average demographic for those who have completed the 

 survey to date, we are seeking to reach a more diverse audience, before the 
 consultation ends, as most of the people who have completed the survey to 

 date are female; the age profile is 35 – 64; in terms of ethnicity the survey 
 has mainly been completed by those who see themselves as white British; in 

 terms of religion we need to find ways to encourage people from a range of 
 different faith groups to participate; and in relation to the different areas of the 
 County we have had fewer responses from people in the Crawley area than 

 from other districts and boroughs. 

3. Engagement  

3.1 The Board has a very strong ethos of engagement and participation and 
continues to support young people’s participation in the work of the Board, both 

as Board members and as consultation and participation subject matter 
experts.   

3.2  Work continues on the development of the CYPP voice work as an integral part 

of the plan’s development and implementation and it is our intention to work 
with the voice and participation team as part of the Children’s First 
partnership’s new Children and Young Peoples Participation Strategy to 

establish this as business as usual.  

3.3 Planned activities over the summer and autumn will provide focused 
opportunities for children and young people to tell us how they would like 

services to work with them and their families and activities to deliver the 
priorities in the CYPP and will include regular/ongoing dialogue with service 
providers about what is working well and what would improve things further.   

4. Next Steps 

4.1 Following the consultation the responses will be collated; the output will be 
shared with the Children First Board; changes will be made to the draft text of 
the CYPP; and the final draft text will then be brought to the Children First 

Board, for final comment before being signed off for publication. A summary of 
responses from the consultation will be generated including information about 

how the Plan was adapted and amended. This will be made available to 
interested parties. 

4.2 We are now starting to think about the delivery of the CYPP including 

arrangements for monitoring and evaluating its impact on the lives of children 
and young people, and parent carers and families. This includes the CF 
Partnership’s role in owning, leading and delivering on the priorities in the plan 

and the governance arrangements that need to be put in place to ensure the 
plan’s successful delivery.  

4.3 Plans from July 2022 onwards will include strategies for bringing partners, 

children and young people, parent carers and families together to workshop 
how we deliver on the priorities in the plan and monitor and evaluate the 
impact of activities; and the on-going use of mechanisms such as online and 

face to face focus and/or reference groups for all relevant stakeholders.  

4.4  We are conducting a review of the Children First Board governance 
arrangements including its sub-groups to ensure the Board has full oversight of 

the key areas of strategic planning for children and young people’s services 
where these plans affect more than one agency or service. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



 

 

  

 
Contact:  
 

Marie Foley  
marie.foley@westsussex.gov.uk 

 
Background papers 
Copy of the Children and Young Peoples Participation Strategy for information 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6

mailto:marie.foley@westsussex.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

 
 
 
 

Children and Young People’s Participation Strategy 
West Sussex Voice + Participation 

 

 
  

 

 

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 2 

 
 

Contents 
 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Vision                                                                                                                                                                                    5                                                                                                                                                 

                  

1.1. Vision for Children, Young People and Learning                     5 

1.2. Foreword Assistant Director                        6 

1.3. Our message to young people                                                                                                                                            7 

 

                                                        9 

2. Context – Executive Summary                                                                                  

         

3. Our Children and Young People                       11 

 

4. Our Challenge to Improve Participation                                                                                                                               13 

 

                      

4.1. 3 Pillars of Participation               13 

4.2. 6 Organisational Challenges              15 

4.3. 5 Rules of Engagement               16 

 

5. The Voice and Participation Team                                                                                                                                         17 

                       

5.1. Foreword: Participation is everyone’s responsibility           18 

5.2. Our Mission                 18 

5.3. About us                 19 

5.4. Our Services                  19 

 

6. How we Engage with Children and Young People now                                                                                                 20 

                   

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 3 

6.1. Refreshing our Youth Participation                      20 

6.1.1. Rebrand for Voice and Participation             20 

 

6.2. Youth Forums                         22 

6.2.1. Children in Care Council              22 

6.2.2. Youth Cabinet and UK Youth Parliament             23 

6.2.3. Care Leavers Executive Group             24 

6.2.4. Care Leavers Advisory Board                               24 

6.2.5. Young Voices                25 

 

6.3. Our Projects                         27 

6.3.1. Language That Cares               27 

6.3.2. ‘The Promise’                 28 

6.3.3. Bright Spots                28 

6.3.4. Mind Of My Own               29 

6.3.5. EPIC Awards                30 

6.3.6. Digital Communication              30 

6.3.7. YourSpace                31 

6.3.8. Supporting our Partners              32 

6.3.9. Staff Recruitment               32 

6.3.10. Involvement in Local and National Decision Making          33 

6.3.11. Training and Facilitation             40 

 

 

The Future of Participation                        42 

 

6.4. Youth Voice Network                        43 

6.4.1. Overview                43 

6.4.2. The 3 Priorities 

               

6.5. Participation Champions                        45 

6.5.1. Champions Programme              45 

6.5.2. How the Champions Work              46 

6.5.3. Champions Commitment to Participation            47 

6.5.4. Champions Opportunities to Develop Participation           63 

6.5.5. Champions Action Plan              64 

 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 4 

 

 

 

 

7. Acting on our 3 Pillars of Participation                                66 

 

 

7.1. Listening                          67 

7.1.1. Developing our Forums              67 

7.1.2. Monthly Activities for Children in Need, Children We Care Forand Care Leavers       67 

7.2. Sharing                          68 

7.2.1. Lunch and Listen               68 

7.2.2. Young People’s Scrutiny Committee             69 

7.3. Acting                                    70 

7.3.1. Development of the Children and Young People’s Plan          70 

7.3.2. Participation Training for our Service and Partners                   71 

7.3.3. Children’s Charters               72 

7.3.4. Annual Events   

                       

 

8. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities                     74 

 

 

9. Team Structure                          75 

 

9.1. Current Team Structure                75 

9.2. Future Team Structure               77 

 

10. Key Performance Indicators                        80 

 

11. Governance                          83 

 

12. References                                                                                                                                                                84 

 

13. Contact                                     85 

 

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 5 

1. Our Vision 
 

1.1. Vision for Children, Young People and Learning  

 
The West Sussex approach puts the child first. We work with children, families, communities, our partners and 

each other in a restorative, strength-based way. Strong Relationships are at the heart of what we do. 
 

 

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 6 

 
 
 

1.2. Foreword from Daniel Ruaux, Assistant Director for Children’s Services 

 
Our children and young people’s voices, their experiences, wishes and needs are at the centre of everything that 

we do. Getting the best outcomes for our children, where they feel listened to heard, and that this is acted upon; 
is achieved though co-production, meaningful consultation and engagement at all levels, with mutual respect and 

regard for the voices and experiences of our children, young people, parents and carers. Delivering inclusion, 
where our children and young people can have their needs met by local services, in our local communities in which 

they can develop and flourish, requires collaboration, accountability, transparency and openness, working with and 
not against one another, with a shared and relentless focus on the child. All of our children and young person are 

individuals and they and their families will have diverse needs. Our approach to engagement and participation is 
about redressing power imbalances and empowerment, through building an alliance, ensuring that we reach as 

many of our children, young people and parent carers as possible. It is value and outcome led; where our shared 
and common purpose, achieving the best for our children and young people in the county, is what drives and 

unites us as a partnership. 
 

 

 

 

As the Assistant Director for Children’s Services for West Sussex County Council I am 

proud to introduce our Engagement & Participation Strategy, which sets our out 
values, commitment and aspiration for how we will work in direct partnership with 

children, young people, parents and carers. Professionals from across the children and 
young people’s system offer a range of expertise, skills and knowledge that support 

children and young people achieving the best possible outcomes, but parents and 
carers know their children above everyone else and have their children’s best interest 

at heart. We are committed to work with all our children and parents, valuing them as 
equal partners, working with and not ‘doing to’.  
 

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 7 

1.3. Our message to Children and Young People 
 

You have given us clear messages and we are building a children and young people’s strategy that responds to 
them. 

 
You have told us what it feels like when you are not listened to, leaving you feeling excluded, isolated and fed-up. 

It can feel like nobody understands what life is like for you and you’ve got no one to talk to.  
 

You have told us how important it is for people to believe in you and your aspirations and how you dislike people 
suggesting that you do things that don’t seem right for you. You get frustrated when you are asked to fill out 

survey after survey but don’t know what has been done with your views. 
 

You tell us it’s important to have a place where your voices are heard, acted upon and make a difference.  
 

The purpose of the children and young people’s participation strategy is to provide a platform for you to speak, 

share ideas and know that you’re being listened to. 
 

Asking you what you want only works when adults are willing to act on these views; it is our job to make sure this 
happens.  

 
Participation is not just about attend meetings with adults or filling out a survey; it is about you having the power 

to discuss the things that are important to you in ways you want to engage with. 
 

We have a duty to ensure all your people can share ideas, understand about their services and their rights and get 
the support they need in the right way at the right time. 

 
We know that by listening to you, providing you with opportunities to authentically engage and have fun, we can 

make services the very best for all children and young people. It is our job to speak on behalf of children and 
young people and provide a platform and opportunities for you to speak for yourselves. 

 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 8 

We want every young person to be heard and know that they have somewhere to go where they will be listened 
to.  Our mission is to take a youth led approach to making a difference in the lives of children and young people in 

an honest, energetic, creative and supportive way. 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 9 

2. Context – Executive Summary 
 

We have developed this strategy as part of our commitment to children and families through our new vision - 

Children First. 
 

Research 
Working alongside West Sussex Children’s services, the partners and the Voice and Participation Service, over a 

six-month period, we engaged staff and children and young people in training, workshops, and consultancy to help 
us understand their experiences, challenges and aspirations, as the basis for building a participation strategy that 

ensures meaningful engagement with children and young people.  
 

Shared principles 
Through this engagement we have developed: 

3 ‘Pillars of Participation’ to capture the principle that we will listen, share and act on the voices of young people  

6 ‘Organisational Challenges’ that we will take on to ensure our actions are effective 
5 ‘Rules of Engagement’ that ensure that our listening is respectful and tactful. 

  
These developments build on the lived experiences of children and young people within our services and the 

expectation that participation and engagement with children and young people is everyone’s responsibility. 
 

Champions 
To take our commitment to participation forward we have set up a forum of senior leaders who will act as 

participation ‘Champions’. The Champion’s role is to identify participation opportunities within their service areas 
and work together to share resources, knowledge and collectively ensure that participation opportunities are 

known and developed with the whole service.  
 

A brand for participation 
We have worked with the Voice and Participation Team to develop a new brand for participation and engagement, 

ensuring we have a visual approach that’s right for our children and young people. This enabled a direct link with 

children and young people, who were consulted and informed throughout the process of developing the brand. 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 10 

 
Understanding current activity and building the base for the future. 

In Section 6 we have described current participation activity, opportunities and groups and in Section 7, 8 and 9 
we outline opportunities for development. 

 
This strategy document outlines how West Sussex 

can take forward an eff with children and young 
people. It creates a challenge, which if acted upon 

via an appropriately resourced, owned and co-
created development plan, will make a difference to 

young people. By having a principled, ethical and 
practical approach to engagement and overcoming 

barriers together, we believe that we can provide a 
model of participation that engages children and 

young people and puts Children First. 

 

 

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 11 

3. Our Children and Young People  

We are responsible for over 233,900 children and young people. It is important for us to know about who they 

are, their lives, experiences, and aspirations so that we can provide the best services for them. Knowing our 
children and young people, hearing their views, and capturing the right data will give us the best evidence to 

develop services that put our Children First.

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 12  

177,363 children and young people 

aged under 18 living in West Sussex
(ONS mid 2020 population estimates)

127,800 children attending 

school (Jan 2021 School Census)

18,175

SEN(No 
Statement or 

EHC) children in 

schools (Jan 2021 

School Census, 
14.2%, 12.1% 

nationally)

12,226

pupils eligible and 
claiming free 

school meals (Jan 
2021 School 

Census)

4,732

Pupils with statements or EHC 
plans (Jan 2021 School Census)

Knowing our Children, Young People & Families
20% children and young people as a % of total population

0 - 17 18 and 
over

13%

children under 
18 who are BME

children living in 
relative poverty

13%

11.0% 
pupils classed as persistent absentees in 

2020/21 autumn term (13.0% nationally)

5,288 families turned 

around and claimed for 
against national vulnerability 
criteria (Supporting Families 
Programme – Sep 21)

148 Care Leavers who 

are NEET (38%, Sep-21)

1

744
CP Plans

892
CLA

5154 
open to 
CSC

1492
CIN Plans

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 13 

4. Our Challenge to Improve Participation 
We have challenged ourselves to improve our participation service for children and young people. We recognise 

that this is not the job of one service area but of the whole of West Sussex Children’s Services and their partners. 
 

To ensure our approach is effective, and we know exactly how we engage with children and young people and 
what we will do with that engagement, we have created ‘3 Pillars of Participation’ that will underpin the work of 

the Voice and Participation Team and communicate how we engage with children and young people to the wider 
service. 

 
To ensure our organisation can provide the best platform to engage with children and young people and act on 

their views we have identified ‘6 Organisational Challenges’.  
 

To ensure we engage with children and young people ethically and tactfully, especially when working with children 
and young people from vulnerable backgrounds or with additional needs, we have developed ‘5 Rules of 

Engagement’ that individuals will follow. 

 
Participation is everyone’s responsibility, and we believe by being clear about the mechanisms of engagement we 

will create a systemic approach for our organisation, services and our people to ensure we put Children First. 
 

4.1. 3 Pillars of Participation 
We have ‘3 Pillars of Participation’- listening, sharing, and acting. These pillars guide all our work with children 

and young people, ensuring that we work to a clear methodology to provide authentic and meaningful 
engagement. 

 
Pillar 1: Listening 

We offer several formal groups, and host activities for children and young people to share their views and engage 
in interesting conversations about what’s important to them. 

 
Our formal groups include all those described in Section 6.2: 

- Children in Care Council 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 14 

- Youth Cabinet  
- UK Youth Parliament 

- Care Leavers Executive Group 
- Care Leavers Advisory Board 

- Young Voices 
 

Our activities bring children and young people together to experience new things, have fun and meet new people. 
As well as all those opportunities outlined in Section 6.3, we provide the following activities: 

 
- Outdoor activities 

- Creative days 
- Days out 

- Online engagement 
 

Pillar 2: Sharing  

Hearing and sharing the views of children and young people is crucial to ensuring children and young people are 
heard and services can act on their ideas and views. We listen and share views in the following ways:  

 
- Consultations 

- Surveys 
- Interviews 

- Training 
 

Pillar 3: Acting 
To enable positive change, we act based on the views and ideas of children and young people. We work 

collaboratively with the service to offer children and young people a number of opportunities to be active 
participants in change such as: 

 
- Attending decision making meetings and interviews 

- Children and young people’s scrutiny committees 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 15 

- Engaging in policy change 
- Involvement in service review and design. 

 
We believe by listening to children and young people and sharing their views and ideas, we can inform action that 

leads to positive change. 
 

4.2. 6 Organisational Challenges 
We have identified ‘6 Organisational Challenges’ that we are working to overcome as a part of this strategy. 

These challenges relate to what our services need to overcome to enable meaningful engagement with children 
and young people so that their views and experiences are listened to, shared and acted upon. 

 
Our challenge areas are: 

 
1. Timing 

- The problem: Involving children and young people too late in the process   

- The challenge: Involve children and young people at the earliest possible stage. 
 

2. Power 
- The problem: Not providing children and young people adequate power  

- The challenge: Devolve appropriate power to children and young people to ensure non-tokenistic 
engagement. 

 
3. Diversity and Inclusion 

- The problem: Not having a sufficiently diverse group to ensure representation of the diversity of children and 
young people’s experiences  

- The challenge: Provide a wider range of inclusive and accessible opportunities that engage with a wider 
group of children and young people from diverse backgrounds, experiences and needs. 

 
4. Traditional 

- The problem: A tokenistic consultation model that does not engage or empower  

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 16 

- The challenge: Move into a co-production model. 
 

5. Geography 
- The problem: Large county can be hard to engage with children and young people in rural areas  

- The challenge: Increase our digital capacity to engage. 
 

6. Ownership 
- The problem: Consulting children and young people using their personal experiences as the point of 

reference can be intrusive  
- The challenge: Give children and young people ownership over how they are asked to engage, the power to 

say no and adequate support from the service when they do wish to share personal experiences. 
 

4.3. 5 Rules of Engagement 
To ensure that all individuals understand the fundamentals of engagement and how to engage ethically and 

tactfully with children and young people, we have developed ‘5 Rules of Engagement’. 

 
Our 5 Rules of Engagement are: 

 
Rule 1: Be clear about what we will do with children and young people’s feedback before we engage with 

them, so we do not raise false expectations. 
Rule 2: Agree how children and young people will be recognised and rewarded for their contributions. 

Rule 3: Let children and young people know the impact of their engagement, in a way that is meaningful to 
them and share with them the feedback timescale. 

Rule 4: Provide children and young people with a clear brief about how we would like to engage with them: 
the purposes, powers and timescales involved. 

Rule 5: Give children and young people the right to say no to engagement. 
  

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 17 

 

5. The Voice and Participation Team 

We listen; we share; we act. 

“Making sure that children and young people’s voices are at the heart of 
everything we do isn’t the responsibility of just one person, or one team, or 

one organisation. For participation to be fully embedded across the board, 
the support of all people whose work involves children and young people is 
required.” 
 

  

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 18 

5.1. Foreword: Participation is everyone’s responsibility 
Developing a voice for young people happens through a collaborative process between a young person and the 

services they are working with. When these work together, with equitable distribution of power, clear expectations 
and shared goals and outcomes, we see fantastic change taking place. As young people and services work 

together, they can start to recognise shared priorities, and equally where the challenges may lie. The best work 
allows for ‘what ifs’, so young people and adults are prepared for a range of outcomes, not just their preferred 

option. Through this co-production, the challenges become opportunities for a shared ownership of solutions. To 
give just one example, by working together young people and services were able to reduce the number of young 

people we care for being taken out of lessons for meetings – something they intensely dislike - from 327 to just 
12.    

 
The Voice and Participation Team can offer support, advice and leadership with the challenges and opportunities 

that teams and workers at West Sussex County Council may come across. Many practitioners share the vision that 
the child’s voice should be at the heart of everything they do and strive to allow young people to express their 

rights under Articles 12 and 13 in the UN Convention of the Rights of the Child. Training, the introduction of the 

Voice Quality Mark and representative groups, such as the voice champions, allow us to make sure all voices are 
heard, we listen, share and act leading to positive change for our young people.  

 
We recognise the key role ‘the participation of children and young people (and parents) in decision-making at 

individual and strategic levels’ plays within the SEND (Special educational needs and disabilities) code of practice 
2014. A young person summed this up as ‘Let me have a say and give me some help to have a say.’  The SEND 

Participation Lead can offer specialist support and advice on accessibility and inclusion, so all young people are 
able to express their views in a way that works best for them. Young people with SEND have told us that there are 

some specific  things to consider when working with them such as, aiming to present information and 
communicate in the most universally accessible ways, including the wider use of augmentative and alternative 

communication (AAC) , ‘presuming competence’ by asking them directly not just their parent carers, and treating 
them as a whole person with their own strengths and support needs not as a collection of ‘diagnoses’ .  

 
 Our Mission 

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 19 

Our mission is to take a youth led approach to making a difference in the lives of children and young people in an 
honest, energetic, enthusiastic and creative way.  

 
5.2. About us 

We work by supporting children and young people to get involved in opportunities that enable them to 
communicate ideas and views about how services can be shaped to support children and young people in the very 

best way. This includes forums, activities that bring children and young people together, consultations and 
celebration events to recognise and share the successes of our children and young people. 

 
The Voice and Participation team work with children’s services and their partners to help them develop ways to 

engage with children and young people in their departments. We believe that our role is to ensure engagement is 
non-tokenistic, children and young people are involved in projects at the earliest possible stage, to challenge 

negative perceptions and think of less traditional, creative ways to engage with children and young people. 
  

Everything we do is underpinned by our mission, to be honest, energetic, inclusive, enthusiastic and creative and 

we use these traits to develop ways to involve children and young people, hear their views, celebrate their 
successes and ensure all children and young people in West Sussex know we put them first. 

 
5.3. Our Services  

The Voice and Participation Team 
The Voice and Participation Team is here to make sure West Sussex Council and its partners listen, share 

and act on the views, ideas and opinions of children and young people. We are passionate about putting 
Children First and ensuring that services, individuals and decision-makers have children and young people’s 

views at the heart of everything that they do. 
 

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Participation Lead 
We know that young people with SEND can face extra barriers to being heard. The SEND Participation Lead 

is here to make sure that young people with additional needs, disabilities or who are neurodiverse are 
supported to express their views so they can take an active part in shaping services.  

 

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 20 

 

6. How we Engage with Children and Young People now 

 
6.1. Refreshing our Youth Participation 
 

Overview 

The purpose of our work with children and young people is to listen to what 

they say, ensure their views and ideas are shared and appropriate action is 
taken in response. 
 
In developing this strategy, we have collated the views and ideas of children and young people from projects that 

have been happening over the last 3 years and gained valuable understanding to inform the future development 
plan in Section 7 so we can provide the best support for children and young people and so children know they are 

put first. 

 
6.1.1. Rebrand for Voice and Participation  

Development of child and young person focused brand, documents, and materials 
The challenge was to provide materials and documents that were designed for a youth audience. Drawing from 

brand guidelines for West Sussex County Council and working with the graphics team, we have created a new 
brand for participation that is clearly linked to the council and that communicates with children and young people 

and therefore increases the chance of them engaging with us. 
 

Our focus is to develop appealing, accessible and appropriate materials for a young audience, avoiding 
documentation with an overly adult, corporate tone. Through our formalised groups of children and young people, 

consultations and surveys we redesigned documents including: 
 

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 21 

1) Looked after Review consultation form  
2) YourSpace webpages, offering information for children and young people in West Sussex  

3) Promotional information for the Independent Visitor Scheme and Advocacy service  
 

We believe with a new brand and the ability to create child centred designs and youth focused materials we can 
increase our engagement with children and young people across West Sussex and show children that they are put 

first. 
  

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 22 

6.2. Our Youth Forums 
Forums provide a space where children and young people are listened to, can freely communicate and share views 

and ideas alongside their peers and work with the wider council to agree actions that inform service delivery. 
 

Our forums align to Article 12 of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, that states that children and young 
people should have the right to ‘express their views’ and their views are ‘given due weight’. We are also informed 

by the ‘Lundy Model for Child Participation’ which proposes that children and young people are provided ‘space’ 
and ‘given safe, inclusive opportunities to form and express their views’. We provide children and young people 

with an appropriate space to share views and support the service with the relevant powers and governance to act 
on the views given. 

 
6.2.1. Children in Care Council 

Our Children in Care Council is a group of children and young people aged 10-16 that meet fortnightly. Members 
are children who are cared for by West Sussex. The group enables children to have a voice in services that impact 

their lives by offering them opportunities to: 

- Give their views in Children We Care For to consultations  
- Influence positive change  

- Meet other children with shared experiences in a safe space  
 

Our Children in Care Council has successfully worked on a number of projects including  
- Campaigned to reduce professional visits in school time where Children We Care For are taken out of class – 

reduced from around 300 per month to 12 per month.  
- Design of a social worker profile card to enable Children We Care For to know who their social worker is and 

how to contact them  
- Recording videos for social work training on the impact and effect of good life story work 

-  
The group is led by the Participation Lead for Children We Care For. 

 
 

 

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 23 

6.2.2. Youth Cabinet and UK Youth Parliament  
The Youth Cabinet and UK Youth Parliament (UKYP) members are children and young people aged 11 to 18, 

elected to represent the views of children and young people in West Sussex. Members also represent views 
nationally, attending an annual debate in the House of Commons in London. 

 
The Youth Cabinet develop their own manifesto to ensure the issues they focus on are relevant to children and 

young people in West Sussex, their current manifesto focuses on: 
 

- Homelessness 
- Knife Crime 

- Mental Health  
- Domestic Abuse 

- Refugees 
- Racial Inequality 

- Political Engagement 

- LGBTQ+ 
- Environmental Issues 

- Free University 
 

Our Youth Cabinet currently meet online monthly between 6-8pm, with other meetings on particular aspects of 
their manifesto and campaign work. Members also contribute to events focusing on important social and political 

issues such as: 
 

- The Sussex Police Independent Advisory Group to support children and young people’s voice and inform 
policy and practice  

- Local and regional environmental meetings such as Fairer World Lindfield and Communities against Gatwick 
noise Emissions  

- Meeting with the High Sherriff of West Sussex to ensure understanding youth crime remains on the agenda 
and is informed by the views of children and young people 

 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 24 

They engage with other children and young people from around West Sussex by using online surveys, social 
media, and campaign for changes by producing films, blogs and other media. 

 
The group is led by the Participation Lead worker.   

 
6.2.3. Care Leavers Executive Group  

The Care Leavers Executive Group is an online group exclusively for care leavers from West Sussex to connect 
with each other, access important information and discuss key topics. 

 
The group is open to care leavers aged 16-25 and focuses on: 

 
- Discussing important topics relevant to care leavers 

- Sharing comms and messages from the Leaving Care Service and Council in a relevant and appropriate 
form 

- Accessing opportunities to train professionals, conduct interviews of staff, and engage in social action 

campaigns 
 

The group is led by the Participation Lead worker.   
 

 
6.2.4. Care Leavers Advisory Board 

The Care Leavers Advisory Board meets regularly to discuss ideas, share views and give feedback to services. This 
forum is for children and young people aged 16-25. 

 
The purpose of the board is to ensure the voice of care experienced children and young people is heard, to have a 

community of people who have similar experiences and to involve care leavers in meaningful work that will ensure 
services are the best for children and young people.  

 
The board has opportunities to: 

 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 25 

• Attend decision making meetings 
• Engage with staff working in children’s social care 

• Advise and consult on service development 
• Capture the views and voice of other care leavers and develop changes to practice with the Leaving Care 

Service 
 

Examples of the work of the Care Leavers Executive group include: supporting four days of interviews about the 
restructure of the IRO service; being part of the interview panel with the Leaving Care service which successfully 

appointed a new team manager, an interim team manager and PA roles.    
 

One of the team managers said that, ‘It was a pleasure to have [member] with us and she brought great insight to 
the process. We very much valued her opinion as part of the process.’ 

 
One of our care leavers is now of part of the 16-25 steering group. The group tasked the children and young 

people, ‘What are the main mental health priorities for care leavers?’. The children and young people researched 

this question, fed back and now the steering group will respond to explain what action is going to be taken.  
 

Another exciting project has been the development of a new ‘inspection’ pack, led by care leavers. The aim of the 
project is to improve the quality of 16+ accommodation providers by carrying out inspections of services in 

partnership with the commissioning team, to give feedback about what needs to be improved and ideas to go 
forward with. A team of 15 children and young people are being trained to carry out inspections. Inspections will 

start in 2022.  
 

The group is led by the Participation Lead for Children We Care For and care leavers  
 

6.2.5. Young Voices 
Young Voices is our youth forum and associated outreach projects for young people with additional needs and 

disabilities, aged up to 25. Outreach work includes online engagement sessions, visits to schools and activity 
providers, activity days, creative craft packs, and use of accessible online platforms to create ideas boards.     

 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 26 

The purpose of Young Voices is to ensure the voice of children and young people with SEND is heard. Young Voices 
forms a supportive and inclusive network of young people who empower each other to develop self-advocacy 

skills, and act as ‘experts by experience’ in co-production with services across social care, education and health 
services. This encompasses work across ‘universal’ services (used by all young people), and more specialist 

services used by young people with SEND.  
 

Young Voices members have opportunities to: 
 

• Sit on decision making steering groups  
• co-deliver training for practitioners and workshops for young people  

• Advise on accessibility and inclusion within services  
• Take part in commissioning panels to jointly make funding decisions and create service specifications with 

commissioners  
• Interview panels 

 

Examples of Young Voices work include 
• Videos created with our youth ambassadors to support the Autism Schools programme, in which autistic 

young people share their lived experiences.  
• Visits to services to give advice on inclusion and accessibility, using feedback tool kits co-designed with 

young people and service providers     
• Online workshops for primary school students to raise their awareness of disability  

• Design of the key image used across the SEND and Inclusion Strategy   
• Attending meetings of the SEND information advice and support service (SENDIAS) Steering group  

• Co-designing information sheets for young people  
•  Co-writing a version of the short breaks statement for young people 

• Online multi-sensory art sessions designed to reach those who use non-speaking communication 
• Ongoing involvement in development of the WSCC SEND and Inclusion Strategy and it’s workstreams 

including, transitions and pathways to adulthood.   
• Young people’s Autism focus group which looks at the neurodevelopmental pathway (autism diagnosis and 

support) , sensory support and Autism Schools projects .   

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 27 

Our Projects 
Our services actively involve our children and young people to ensure their views are central to how we develop 

services, these opportunities are outlined below. 

 

6.3.1. Language That Cares 

Ensuring that the language used is appropriate, inclusive and child friendly.  

Children We Care For have told us that they don’t understand acronyms and technical language used in 

conversations or reports about them. This is especially true when they are looking through the records made 

about them.  

 

Through our project ‘Language that Cares’ we engaged with children and young people by asking them about the 

effect of language that is used by professionals. Children and young people recorded videos detailing how the 

language made them feel and offered alternatives. This was submitted as part of the national ‘TACT - Fostering 

and Adoption Agency - Language That Cares Second Version Report’. Care leavers also gave their views on the 

impact of reading language in their files. This has led to their views being incorporated in the new recording 

principles used by professionals in West Sussex.  

   

Our focus is to ensure that the service uses appropriate language when speaking about children and young people 

in care to ensure they are authentically communicated with and about. We want to ensure that we don’t segregate 

or stigmatise children and young people with the use of professional jargon, acronyms, and technical language. 

  

Specific focuses of the work of Language that Cares will be: 

- Statutory recording  

- Meetings and reviews 

- When speaking directly to children and young people 

- When communicating about children and young people with peers 

 

We plan to embed this important work by:  

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 28 

- providing training to professionals that helps them change their language 

- ensuring staff consider how what is written today may affect the children in the future 

- providing feedback on a local and national level on the effect of language for care experienced children and 

young people. 

 

6.3.2. ‘The Promise’  
Our Promise to care experienced children and young people.  

The Promise 2020 is a partnership commitment to support children and young people in care and care leavers.  It 
has been written by children and young people in care, care leavers, professionals who work with them and the 

West Sussex Corporate Parenting Panel.  
 

Our promise is broken down into 5 clear commitments to care experienced children and young people that focus 
on: involving children and young people; supporting their health and happiness; supporting and advising them; 

education, employment, and training; leaving care. 
 

To develop ‘The Promise’ we engaged with children and young people by sending out a survey asking for their 

views on what they thought was important to remember from their point of view. We received over 100 

responses, and these were shared with a workshop group consisting of children we care for, care leavers, service 

leads, and members of the Corporate Parenting Panel. From this they created ‘The Promise’, a document which 

outlines the West Sussex Corporate Parenting Panel commitment to Children We Care For and care leavers.   

 

To see ‘The Promise’ click this link: https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/media/14891/the_promise_2020_yspace.pdf 

 

 

6.3.3. Bright Spots 

A bi-annual survey that captures views on of care experienced children and young people.  

The Bright Spots Programme is a partnership between Coram Voice and the University of Oxford, funded by the 

Hadley Trust. It supports local authorities to listen systematically to their children in care and care leavers about 
the things that are important to them. 

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/media/14891/the_promise_2020_yspace.pdf


 

 29 

 

In West Sussex we consulted with 135 children and young people through the Bright Spots survey. Coram Voice 

analysed the results and created a report which was used by children, young people and professionals to create a 

12–18-month action plan to improve services.  

 

WSCC Bright Spots 

You Said We Will 05.12.2018 FINAL.pptx

Your Life, Your Care 

West Sussex full report FINAL 06.08.2018.pdf

WS Bright Spots 

Action Plan updated all 140220.docx 
6.3.4. Mind Of My Own 
A digital tool for care experienced children and young people to 

share their views 
West Sussex commissioned the Mind Of My Own app to enable 

children and young people to share their views via an accessible 
digital tool. 

 
The Mind Of My Own app is a simple digital tool that can be used on the internet, smartphones and other digital 

devices and gives children and young people the ability to share their views for things such as Children We Care 

For reviews. In 2020 the app received over 650 statements, the majority regarding worker visits and children and 
young people informing us about their wellbeing. In 2020 there were over 350 children and young people accounts 

and 300 worker accounts.  
 

To ensure the app is used widely, we have a steering group and Mind Of My Own Champions. The Champions 
promote the use of the App, and the steering group, which meets six weekly, receives user feedback and channels 

this into further developments of the project. 
 

 
 

 
 

 

              P
age 45

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 30 

 
 

 
 

 
6.3.5. EPIC Awards  

Recognising Exceptional People in Care  
The Exceptional People in Care (EPIC) awards have been running 

since 2011 and are organised by children, young people and staff 
from West Sussex Children in Care Council, and West Sussex 

County Council.  
 

Children and young people in care and care leavers aged 5-25 are 
nominated by professionals and carers in four categories: Big 

Hearts; Big Thinkers; Big Talents; and Big Strength. Awards are 

given at an annual ceremony, organised with children we care for, 
which celebrates these achievements and also the successes arising 

from the commitments made in ‘The Promise’.   
 

 
 

6.3.6. Digital Communication 
Sharing children and young people’s views digitally 

To ensure children and young people are heard, we have various digital methods to engage with and share the 
views of children and young people, including newsletters and our social media channels. 

 
Children and young people co-author our termly newsletters, which include their views on announcements and 

initiatives by West Sussex Council, recipes and top tips.  
 

Our social media channels include:  

 

 
 
 

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 31 

- Instagram  
- Twitter  

- TikTok  
- Facebook  

- Snapchat  
- Linked In 

 
We use our social media channels to engage in different ways. We inform children and young people of initiatives 

and share information and messages. We use these channels to inform professionals and partners of the work we 
are carrying out and ask for their feedback. We inform the general public about what we are doing and raise 

awareness.  
 

6.3.7. YourSpace 
Our website to provide information to children and young people in 

West Sussex 

YourSpace is our website that provides crucial information to children 
and young people including: support, health, work, education and 

more. 
 

YourSpace is available to all children and young people in West Sussex 
regardless of their background. Our focus is to ensure that they have 

relevant information that supports them navigate life, access 
opportunities and find out about crucial services and how to access 

them. 
 

We provide regular updates that include new training opportunities; 
health advice; information on current voice opportunities; updates on voice activities that have taken place.  

 
Children and young people are involved in YourSpace by regular review of the content and format of the site, 

providing content for newsletters and videos hosted online.  

 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 32 

 
YourSpace is managed by the Voice and Participation team with the support of the Participation leads and Team 

Manager. 
 

You can visit YourSpace here: https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/education-children-and-families/your-space/ 
 

6.3.8. Supporting Our Partners 
Involving children and young people with our partners  

We understand how crucial it is for children and young people to be involved in the work of our partners, to ensure 
everyone hears children and young people’s views in line with our vision - Children First. 

 
We ensure our children and young people are involved in supporting our partners including: 

 
- Police – attending the Independent Advisory Group for Sussex Police 

- Health – children and young people’s views being represented at the health sub-group of the Corporate 

Parenting Panel, and the West Sussex Children Looked After Health Operation Group, Public Health 
Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Forum, Sussex Partnership Foundation NHS Trust 16-25 steering 

group,     
- Housing – Children and young people attend the 16+ provider forum and work closely with the housing 

teams  
 

As a result of this involvement with partners, CYP/we have seen changes such as professionals hearing from 
children and young people about the transition from child to adult mental health services, and the development of 

a new inspection package by care leavers for supported accommodation.  
 

6.3.9. Staff Recruitment 
Children and young people’s involvement in recruiting staff 

We know how important it is to have the right staff for our children and young people, that is why it is a priority 
for us to ensure we have children and young people involved in the recruitment of the people who support them. 

 

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/education-children-and-families/your-space/


 

 33 

We have involved children and young people in recruitment by:  
 

- Creating a guide for professionals on how to involve children and young people in the recruitment process  
- Developing our links with the recruitment, resourcing and talent teams to ensure children and young people 

are involved at the earliest possible opportunity in the best way  
- Creating a children and young people’s training course in recruitment and interviewing, through which we 

have trained over 20 children and young people.  
 

Our vision ‘Children First’ is focused on working closely with our partners. We have involved children and young 
people in the recruitment of: 

 
- Leaders in West Sussex County Council, including Executive Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Leads 

- Health staff including Children We Care For Nurses  
- Social care staff, especially those on the front line 

- Independent Reviewing Officers 

- Our SEND Participation Lead and Participation Assistant  
 

6.3.10. Involvement in Local and National Decision Making  
Involving children and young people in making decisions for the services they receive. 

We want to be held accountable, to ensure the services we provide are the best for the children and young people 
who use them, that’s why we invite our children and young people to attend our crucial meetings such as: 

 
- Children First Meeting 

- Children and Children and Young People’s Service Scrutiny Committee 
- Good Practice Panel 

- Journey to Independence  
 

Where possible we encourage and support children and young people to co-chair meetings such as at Corporate 
Parenting Panel, Journey to Independence Group and Children First Panel. Where this is not practical, we ensure 

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 34 

that children and young people are present at the meeting to represent other children and young people’s views 
and offer scrutiny and challenge, such as at the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee. 

 
We want children and young people to ask the questions that are important to them, share their views, tell us 

their opinion of the job we are doing and guide us to develop the best services. It is crucial to us that, when we 
are making decisions about our services, changing policies or scrutinising services, children and young people are 

present to influence and guide us. 
 

We also support and encourage our children and young people to engage with national discussions about the 
services children and young people receive across the UK. It is important that our children and young people have 

a national voice, they can share feedback from the perspective of young people from West Sussex and learn about 
other local areas and how they support their children and young people. 

 
The ‘impact table’ below explains the role of children and young people have in decision making and the impact it 

has had. 

 
Impact Table – Involvement in Local and National Decision Making  

Decision 
Making 

Space 

Frequency Local / 
National 

Information Children and Young 
People’s Role + 

Engagement 

Impact 

Children First 
Board 

Quarterly Local Board to improve 
outcomes for all 

children and young 
people in West 

Sussex. Ensure all 
agencies work 

together. Listen 
and respond to the 

views and voice of 

Co-Chair alongside 
Cllr Jacquie Russel, 

Lead Member for 
Children and Families 

Young person with 
additional needs 

attends and 
participates 

Group is currently creating 
a children and young 

people’s plan for West 
Sussex. Children and 

young people are 
developing a Youth Voice 

network to ensure 
connection of youth voice 

across the county and as 
a means to gauge the 

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 35 

children, young 
people and families.  

impact and needs of 
children and young people 

in relation to the Children 
and Children and young 

people’s plan.  

Children and 
Young 

people’s 
Service 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Bi-monthly Local The Children and 
Young People's 

Services Scrutiny 
Committee is 

responsible for the 
overview and 

scrutiny of 
the Children and 

Children and young 
people’s Services 

portfolio (apart 
from public health 

for children) 
Learning and Skills 

portfolio 

Two children and 
young people 

representatives sitting 
on committee 

meetings   

Enabling children and 
young people’s voice to be 

directly inputted at 
highest level of scrutiny  

Journey to 
Independence 

Bi-monthly  Local  Meeting with 
partners relevant to 

supporting care 
leavers. 

The purpose of the 
meeting is to 

develop and share 
services for care 

leavers and to 
ensure care leavers 

Attendance from the 
Chair of the Care 

Leavers Advisory 
Group acting as an 

advisor on the JTI 
board. 

 
Children and young 

people were invited to 
a series of workshops 

Development of a new 
Local Offer for Care 

Leavers 
 

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 36 

transition effective 
into independence. 

(8) that explored the 
local offer for care 

leavers. These 8 
workshops gave 

adults and children 
and young people the 

opportunity to 
critique, rewrite and 

develop a new leaving 
care offer, focusing 

on: 

 
1. Relationships 

2. Participation 
3. Employment 

and 
Volunteering 

4. Education and 
Training 

5. Physical Health 
6. Mental Health 

7. Finance  
8. Accommodation 

 

All Party 
Parliamentary 

Group 

Termly National The APPG organises 
meetings which 

bring together 
people with 

different personal 
and professional 

Up to two children and 
young people from West 

Sussex attending to 
represent views on 
Children We Care For and 

care leavers  

Children and young people 
from West Sussex 

represent views which 
help shape the care 

system at a national level. 
Have impacted on 

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 37 

experiences, 
including those with 

lived experience of 
care, professionals 

and carers, 
voluntary sector 

organisations and 
others to share 

their expertise with 
decision makers in 

government, 

Parliament and 
local authorities. 

The APPG also 
carries out inquiries 

which explore 
specific issues in 

the care system 
and makes 

recommendations 
to government. 

Spotlight Inquiry which 
aims to shine a light on 

the care system[s] across 
the country. We are 

exploring themes of care 
and community and will 

be hearing from care-
experienced children and 

young people and adults, 
carers, professionals and 

others with an interest in 

improving the care system 
and 

National Care 

Leavers 
Benchmarking 

Forum 

Quarterly National  This national forum 

is a network of over 
100 local 

authorities 
promoting the 

development of 
quality leaving care 

services with 
member authorities 

Up to four children 

and young people 
attend either online or 

in person events at 
children and young 

people’s 
benchmarking forum. 

The young people’s 
benchmarking forum 

Developed work at 

national level especially 
around apprenticeships 

and care leavers offer. 
West Sussex care leavers 

played an active role in 
planning and delivering 

this national event. Care 
leavers attended Spotlight 

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 38 

and partner 
organisations 

through a process 
of benchmarking 

and shared learning 
on a national scale, 

to enrich outcomes 
for our nations care 

leavers. 

works alongside the 
National care leavers 

benchmarking forum 
to complete an annual 

work plan with the 
aims of improving 

understanding of 
children in care, 

improving services 
and producing advice, 

information, resources 

and participation 
opportunities for 

other children and 
young people. The 

group prioritises 
issues highlighted in 

the NLCBF workplan 
and co-deliver all 

forum events with the 

NLCBF team. 

 

review as part of APPG to 
influence social care 

spotlight review. 

Child 

Exploitation 
Scrutiny day 

Local  Annual  Multi agency review 

day looking at 
results from audit 

undertaken by 
West Sussex 

children’s 

Up to five children 

and young people 
attend to review 

findings and give their 
views, recognise 

improvements and 
suggest solutions  

Held agencies to scrutiny 

at highest level in 
safeguarding  

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 39 

safeguarding 
partnership board.  

Corporate 
Parenting 

Panel Sub-

groups 

Local  Varies Subgroups looking 
at thematic areas 

of Corporate 

Parenting Panel 
workstream  

Young person sits on 
panel and informs 

change  

Young person on 
Emotional wellbeing and 

mental health board has 

described impact of 
mental health services, 

leading to training video 
being show to 

professionals.  

SENDIAS 

Steering 
group  

Local  Quarterly Reviewing overall 

performance and 
key challenges for 

the SENDIAS 
service  

Young person with 

additional needs sits 
on the steering group.  

Short breaks 
commissioning 

panels, local, varies, 

developing services 
for young people with 

SEND , young people 
supported to sit 

alongside 
commissioners to 

make decisions about 
what provision is 

needed , short breaks 
services better meet 

the needs of families 
and are more person-

centred 

Information and advice is 

presented in a more 
accessible and youth-

friendly way.  
 

Making Participation Work  

youth conference , 
national, annual, 

discussion on themes 
relevant to young people 

with SEND and their voice, 
4 youth reps attend from 

the Young Voices group , 
young people are able to 

contribute to national 
research, campaigns and 

consultations 

 

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 40 

6.3.11. Training and Facilitation 
Children and young people involved in the development of our staff 

Children and young people are trained and supported to engage in training and facilitation opportunities that 
develop the adults who support them. By incorporating expertise from lived experience we are able to provide 

valuable insights for our staff about children and young people’s experience of services and how best to support 
them.  

 
These opportunities are outlined in the table below. 

 
Training and Facilitation Table 

Training or 

Facilitation 
Opportunity 

Frequency Information Children and young people’s Role + 

Engagement 

The Skills to 
Foster 

Frequency 
based on 

demand   

Mandatory training for potential 
foster carers as part of their 

recruitment to become a foster 
carer. 

Children and young people give 
presentation – ‘Top tips for foster carers’, in 

which they share their experiences in care.  
 

 

Total 
Respect 

Frequency 
based on 

demand  

Mandatory training for foster carers 
in their first 18 months with West 

Sussex. Training for professionals 
and carers. Total Respect is a 

national award-winning training 
resource delivered by care 

experienced trainers. It supports 
the full implementation of the 

United Nations Convention on the 
Rights of the Child. It develops a 

thorough understanding of 
children’s rights, including the right 

Care leavers deliver training  

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 41 

to participation, and relevance to 
the delivery of child centred 

services; explores assumptions 
about children and young people, 

listening to young people, and the 
experience of being a child in care; 

it teaches about involving young 
people within care planning, young 

people's involvement in policy 
development and effective 

advocacy. 

 

Autism 

Aware Award 
and Autism 

Schools  

Frequency 

based on 
demand 

Part of a national project to 

improve the support and 
awareness of autism in schools. 

The young people talk about their 
lived experiences including how the 

sensory environment affects their 
wellbeing and education, effective 

strategies to support autistic 

students, and gaining the authentic 
voice of autistic students. Young 

people are also involved in 
developing resources and tools for 

schools to use to support students. 
The videos created are also being 

used by other services such as 
social care to support staff 

development .   

Young Voices youth ambassadors deliver 

part of the training , currently delivered by 
pre-recorded video and video conferencing. 

They are also involved in ‘sensory audits’ of 
schools as the experts by experience.  

   

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 42 

The Future of Participation  
Our Development Plan 

We want all children and young people to be listened to; we want to share their views 

and we want them to know that we act on what they say: that is why our 

development plan is based on three priorities: 

1.  Create the Youth Voice Network to connect the voices of all children and young 

people across West Sussex. 

2. Work with our Participation Champions to improve youth engagement within 

West Sussex and across the partnership 

3. Provide opportunities for children and young people based on our 3 Participation 

Pillars: Listening; Sharing and Acting.  

This section of the strategy shares how we will act on these priorities and ensure that 

in doing so we put Children First. 
 
  

P
age 58

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 43 

6.4 Youth Voice Network 
Connecting the voices of all children and young people across West Sussex 
 

6.4.1. Overview 

The Youth Voice Network is a network that will enable children and young people to be active participants in 
service delivery and improvement and join us in our vision to put Children First.  

 
The aim of the Youth Voice Network is to hear and amplify voices, so they lead to change. We plan to bring 

together the views, ideas and opinions of all young people from across West Sussex so that we can listen, share 
and act ensuring we have a network that is putting Children First. 

 
To ensure the success of this strategy and the future of participation in West Sussex, we must have an active 

group of children and young people, who are trained, supported and properly resourced to engage with us 
confidently. A successful Youth Voice Network will mean we have children and young people who are connected, 

skilled and engaged with our service and active participants in our vision to put Children First. 
 

6.4.2. The 3 Priorities 
We have 3 main priorities for the Youth Voice Network: 

 

1. Connect all youth forums across West Sussex – linking the groups in Section 6.2 
2. Provide development opportunities for children and young people – building on those outlined in Section 6.3 

3. Engage children and young people in service delivery and improvement – building on Section 6.3 
 

 
1. Connect all youth forums across West Sussex 

Youth Voice Network is a space for all children and young people’s voices to be captured and shared. How we 
plan to create this network is by bringing together all youth forums to create a hub and spoke model to ensure 

a central space for all youth voice. 
 

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 44 

 
 

These forums include: 
 

o School Councils 
o Youth Cabinet 

o Care Leavers Advisory Board 
o Children in Care Council 

o Young Voices (SEND) 
o Young leaders programme  

 
2. Provide Development Opportunities for Children and young people 

If we want children and young people to support us in developing our services, we need to make sure they 
have the appropriate skills to do so. Therefore, we will provide development opportunities to all children and 

young people across our Youth Voice Network including: 

 
o Research skills 

o Interview skills 
o Young journalists 

o Presentation skills 
o Service design 

o Peer to peer support 
 

3. Engage Children and Young People in Service Delivery and Improvement 
The purpose of the Youth Voice Network is to have a central space for all children and young people to connect, 

share and engage in participation activities and ensure:  
 

o We have the right staff 
o Our services are fit for purpose 

o We avoid tokenistic consultation 

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 45 

o Young people are engaged in quality assurance  
o Children and young people’s views are listened to, shared and acted upon 

 
 

 

6.5. Participation Champions 
Engaging Leadership with Children and Young People’s Participation  
 

6.5.1. Champions Programme  
A forum of individuals from children’s services focused on creating opportunities for children and young people to 

develop themselves and the services they receive. 
 

We understand we need to engage individuals and services in youth participation. We know that the perception of 
participation is focus providing consultation opportunities for children and young people and we believe 

participation is so much more. 
 

Our Champions Programme brings together individuals from across children’s services and the partnership to 
develop creative ways to engage with children and young people  

 
Based on our participation principles, the champions have 3 clear aims: 

1. Listening: We define listening as the act of listening to children and young people and their opinions, views 

and ideas being unconditionally welcomed. Opportunities for listening include our forums, hosting events for 
children and young people and more. 

2. Sharing: We define sharing as the act of communicating children and young people’s ideas, views and 
opinions. This can be done through conversation at meetings, using digital and media, engagement in training, 

recruitment of staff and more. 
3. Acting: We define acting as taking tangible action based on the views, ideas and opinions of children and 

young people. This includes feedback and changes to services, developing children and young people’s ideas, 
committing resource and more. 

 

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 46 

6.5.2. How the Champions Work  
The Champions are volunteers from across Children’s Services who work together for 12-months before 

nominating someone else to become a Champion. There are representatives from:  
 

- Children’s commissioning 
- Youth Justice 

- Children First 
- Residential Services 

- Voice and Participation 
- Virtual School 

- Fostering 
- Communications and Engagement for Children and Young People’s and Learning  

- Children in Need 
- Children under Child Protection 

- Children We Care For 

- Care Leavers 
- SEND Commissioning and Education and Skills 

 

 
They attend a Champions bootcamp where they learn about engagement and develop opportunities for children 

and young people to develop themselves and the services they receive. Champions commit to a 12-month term 
and support with the selection of their replacement to ensure the programme grows and is sustainable. Every 

service area commits to providing a champion to ensure that service areas are committed and engaged with youth 

participation activities across West Sussex County Council and partners. 
 

Champions have 4 meetings a year where they discuss the opportunities that they have developed for children and 
young people and they nominate adults and children and young people for ‘recognition awards’ so that we can 

celebrate good things that happen. 
 

A big part of the Champions programme is their work with Youth Voice Buckinghamshire and decision-makers to 
remove barriers that might prevent children and young people from engaging. 

P
age 62

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 47 

 
6.5.3. Champions Commitment to Participation 

Our Champions are developing opportunities for children and young people to engage in their service area. They 
recognise that for participation to be successful, a joined-up approach must be taken across West Sussex to the 

development of a robust and meaningful youth participation offer. 
 

As part of the programme, Champions were asked to research and identify: 
 

- Current participation activities in their service 
- Their vision for participation 

- The barriers that are preventing them from achieving their vision 
- The impact of achieving their vision 

 
 

To support Champions to explore these areas, we facilitated 6 workshops and provided a survey for service areas 

to respond to. From these responses, we synthesised, categorised and identified opportunities to develop 
participation across the whole service. This gives us vital information to enable Champions to think creatively 

about solutions to providing meaningful engagement opportunities for children and young people. 
 

Champions Survey Answers – Table 

 

Service Area 

Survey Question  

Identified 
Opportunitie

s to Develop 
Participation 

 

What does 
your 

participation 
with children 

and young 
people look 

like now? 

What is your 
vision for 

participation
? 

What 
barriers do 

we need to 
overcome 

to achieve 
your vision? 

Why is it 
important 

to achieve 
this vision? 

What impact 
will your 

vision have? 

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 48 

Children's 
commissioning 

involving 
children and 

young people 
in the 

procurement 
of 16+ 

external 
supported 

accommodatio
n services.  

children and 

young people 
reviewed and 

contributed to 
the service 

specification, 
the same 

group of 
young people 

designed their 
own method 

statement 
question and 

independently 
evaluation the 

responses.  to 

ensure this 
was 

meaningful 
their verdict 

We create a 
platform to 

engage with 
young people 

directly on 
what and how 

they would 
like to be 

involved in 
engaging and 

effecting 

change in the 
Council.  we 

have a clear 
ethical 

structure to 
implement 

this work with 
young people 

we will need 
to engage all 

departments 
of the council 

in the vision 
in order to 

support how 
we navigate 

governance 
protocols and 

that young 

people are 
supported to 

understand 
these 

processes 
and how they 

can 
contribute to 

them 

to ensure all 
we do and 

deliver has 
the 

aspirations 
of the young 

people at its 
core and 

design 

improve the 
experiences 

and maximise 
the outcomes 

for the young 
people who we 

care for 

Create a 
platform to 

engage with 
young people 

directly on 
what and how 

they would 
like to be 

involved in 
engaging and 

effecting 

change in the 
Council 

P
age 64

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 49 

decided 
whether the 

whole 
application 

failed.  young 
people will 

continue this 
level of 

involvement 
though out the 

life of the 

framework 
(5yrs).  young 

people will be 
carrying out 

their QA visits 
to services 

alongside the 
commissioning 

team 

Youth Justice Our 
participation 

offer is patchy. 
Case 

Managers do 
take feedback 

during reviews 
from children, 

young people, 
families and 

A much more 
structured and 

embedded 
approach. 

Something 
where there is 

the 
opportunity 

for 
contribution 

I think we 
get 

overwhelmed 
and don't 

know where 
to start. If 

we do start it 
feels 

tokenistic 
and 

Because we 
need to be 

able to 
deliver the 

best service 
that has the 

most 
positive 

impact for 
those who 

I hope it would 
improve our 

service and the 
experience of 

those using it 
and delivering 

it. It would 
hopefully be 

more 
responsive, 

Move away 
from 

gathering 
feedback only 

on items on 
our 

(professional) 
agenda. 

 

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 50 

victims but it 
is not centrally 

collected nor 
is it analysed. 

It does not 
feed into 

development 
or plans. We 

are required 
by National 

Standards to 

complete an 
electronic 

survey called 
"about me" 

with children 
and parents 

each time we 
complete or 

review an 
assessment. 

They are 
universally 

hated by staff 
who find them 

embarrassing 

to complete 
due to how 

they are 
written. Again, 

on a range of 
levels at all 

stages of 
involvement 

with our 
service by all 

who use it. I 
think our 

foundations 
need to be 

built in 

structural 
expectation of 

feedback and 
participation. I 

want it to 
permeate all 

areas of our 
work, 

ultimately, I 
would like 

development 
of services to 

be based on 
participation 

and run and 

managed by 
service users 

with support. I 
want to value 

inadequate. I 
think we 

work in an 
industry 

where we are 
used to 

telling people 
what to do 

and are used 
to being 

"right" I 

think this 
makes it 

difficult to 
really imbed 

participation 
and the 

power 
dynamics are 

weighted 
against it. I 

think we are 
very tight 

resource 
wise; this 

means 

people have 
their heads 

down and 
struggle to 

use it. We 
are currently 

all work so 
very hard 

but for many 
children we 

are not 
supporting 

them to 
make the 

sort of 

longer-term 
changes that 

really impact 
positively on 

their futures. 
Our 

structures 
and 

processes 
also end up 

meeting our 
needs. 

more effective, 
more 

respectful, and 
empowering. 

Services to be 
based on 

participation 
and run and 

managed by 
service users 

with support. 
 

Break the 
cycle of 

participation 

being a 
response to a 

certain issue 
as opposed to 

a culturally 
normal 

fundamental 
pillar of our 

service 
structure. 

 
Properly 

compensate 
people for 

their 

participation. 
 

 

P
age 66

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 51 

they are not 
collated in 

anyway. We 
do have an 

"end of order 
questionnaire" 

which is 
infrequently 

completed and 
collated or 

evaluated in 

anyway. We 
have in the 

past included 
children and 

young people 
in recruitment. 

I think this is 
actually 

something we 
did well. We 

spent time 
with them 

looking at how 
they wanted 

to manage 

their part of 
the process 

(this varied 
from exercises 

the 
contribution 

and move 
away from us 

"mining" our 
service users 

to meet our 
own needs. 

Whilst 
feedback is 

good I would 

like to move 
away from 

gathering 
feedback only 

on items on 
our agenda. I 

would like to 
see a post 

created to 
focus solely on 

participation. I 
think it is 

necessary to 
break the 

cycle of it 

being a 
response to a 

certain issue 
as opposed to 

see the 
benefit of 

participation 
and it feels 

like "extra" 
work that 

they do not 
have the 

capacity for. 
We worry 

about risk 

and 
surrendering 

power makes 
us feel 

vulnerable to 
things going 

wrong, 
people 

getting hurt 
and us being 

to blame. I 
think we can 

be very 
paternalistic 

towards our 

service 
users. We 

learn about 
the very 

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 52 

that they 
designed to 

more 
traditional 

interview 
questions), 

agreed 
percentages,  

and fully 
included them 

in the 

discussions at 
the end and 

the 
subsequent 

decision 
making. We 

paid them in 
vouchers for 

this. However, 
this has not 

happened for 
several years. 

We have 
undertaken 

specific 

consultation 
on key issues, 

most notably 
our service 

a culturally 
normal 

fundamental 
pillar of our 

service 
structure. I 

would also like 
to properly 

compensate 
people for 

their 

participation. I 
feel very 

strongly that 
this is a more 

respectful way 
of working 

with people 
and properly 

values them. 

difficult lives 
many of 

them have 
had and we 

become 
protective 

over them, 
we don't 

want to 
burden them 

we want to 

look after 
and help 

them...but I 
think this is 

also about 
the fact we 

don't trust 
them to 

make good 
decisions and 

we don't 
have very 

high 
expectations 

of them (a 

VERY honest 
reply there!) 

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 53 

redesign. We 
conducted 

semi 
structured 

conversations 
with children 

and their 
families. We 

chose to do 
this with a 

relatively 

small cohort of 
10 families but 

spent at least 
an hour with 

each. I think 
this was a 

more 
successful way 

of gaining 
opinion but 

not perfect. 

Programme 
Management 

Office - 
Children First 

Usually 
surveys or 

approaching 
the CIC for 

views.  This is 
often done at 

a late stage 
rather than 

Clear 
communicatio

n to teams / 
Programme 

Management 
Office about 

how to engage 
early in the 

Conflicting 
priorities 

across the 
organisation. 

The pressure 
to deliver 

sometimes 
gets in the 

We may 
think that 

we know 
what young 

people want 
/ need - but 

often we 
don't.  There 

Reduced 
duplication / 

saving time, 
good 

opportunities 
for YP to be 

involved, 
better services, 

Clear 
communicatio

n to teams / 
Programme 

Management 
Office about 

how to engage 

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 54 

project 
initiation. 

process. For 
teams to see 

it as the first 
thing that 

they think 
about. 

Different and 
innovative 

ways of 
engaging 

Young People, 

not just 
surveys. 

Ensuring their 
is time to 

incorporate 
feedback into 

plans.  Clear 
routes to 

communicate 
back to Young 

People about 
the impact 

that their 
participation 

has had.   

way of 
thinking 

about 
participation 

early.  
Feedback 

often gets 
lost as there 

are so many 
other 

priorities that 

staff need to 
consider. 

Covid 
restrictions. 

Some project 
managers 

don't have a 
good 

understandin
g of what 

Voice and 
Participation 

can offer.  
Young 

Persons 

engagement 
is seen as a 

tick box 
exercise. 

are 
unintended 

consequence
s of practice 

and 
language 

that may not 
be obvious. 

Thinking 
about 

participation 

earlier will 
save time 

later and 
reduce 

duplication.  
Feedback 

may be used 
for more 

than one 
purpose.    

and ultimately 
outcomes for 

YP. 

early in the 
process. 

 
Different and 

innovative 
ways of 

engaging 
Young People, 

not just 
surveys. 

 

Clear routes 
to 

communicate 
back to Young 

People. 

P
age 70

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 55 

Children’s 
residential 

services 

For what i see 
in residential 

services it can 
be very 

patchy. We 
get a phone 

call requesting 
participation 

at the last 
minute and it 

seems a little 

rushed. I feel 
we do not 

work together 
or at times 

have the right 
communicatio

n to involve 
young people 

in more 
activities and 

planning for 
participation. 

Communicatio
n between the 

Participation 
teams and 

residential to 
be extended 

and look for a 
way forward 

so we have 
more of an 

awareness of 

how we can 
support our 

young people 
to engage 

with this 
service. I feel 

that there 
needs to be 

more 
connection for 

the young 
people with 

the 
participation 

team, develop 

relationships 
and this will 

aid 
participation 

Process, how 
we work 

together, 
Time 

restrictions. 
Archaic views 

and tick box 
exercise!  To 

think about 
what will 

actually work 

and change 
the lives of 

the young 
people. 

Its important 
to give 

young 
people 

opportunities 
to have their 

voice heard. 
I dont 

always think 
the voice of 

the child is 

heard or if it 
is at times 

this is swept 
aside due to 

the need to 
have things 

completed 
and tick 

boxes filled! 

It will give the 
young people 

positive role 
models that 

they can look 
towards. It can 

give young 
people some 

opportunities 
to use the skills 

they have 

gained and 
make 

theirexperience
s with social 

services 
positive   

Communicatio
n between the 

Participation 
teams and 

residential. 
 

More of an 
awareness of 

how we can 
support our 

young people 

to engage 
with this 

service. 
 

More 
connection for 

the young 
people with 

the 
participation 

team. 
 

Give young 
people 

meaningful 

reward and 
praise for 

their efforts 

P
age 71

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 56 

and an 
understanding 

for the young 
people on 

what is going 
on.  We have 

a lot of 
resources 

within West 
Sussex and I 

feel we can 

offer bigger 
and better 

things to our 
young people 

and capitalise 
on their 

experiences 
and views.  

Give them 
Meaningful 

reward and 
praise for 

their efforts. 

Voice and 
Participation 

Team 

Formal and 
informal voice 

groups, 
including 

youth cabinet 
and children in 

All young 
people in West 

Sussex can 
have their say 

on issues that 
affect them 

Access to 
translation 

services. 
Access to 

buildings to 
meet with 

So all young 
people have 

a chance to 
contribute at 

the earliest 
point and all 

Young people 
will feel part of 

the community 
and services in 

which they live. 
Services will 

Development 
of Voice 

Charter Mark. 
Use of Service 

Strategy to 
ensure voice 

P
age 72

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 57 

care council 
offering young 

people a 
chance to 

have their 
voice heard at 

a local and 
national level. 

Training and 
development 

opportunities, 

including 
interviewing 

and Total 
respect 

courses. 
Opportunities 

for young 
people to take 

part in 
informal 

activities to 
meet other 

young people 
with shared 

circumstances 

to themselves. 
Opportunity 

for young 
people to have 

and know that 
those views 

are listened 
to, and 

positive 
change will 

happen as a 
result through 

co-production.  

young 
people. Time 

and 
resource/staf

f to be able 
to plan with 

teams and 
for teams to 

offer their 
time and 

staff to 

develop new 
opportunities

. For all in 
West Sussex 

to share 
power with 

young people 
for making 

positive 
change.  

feel their 
voice is 

heard. So 
that services 

working with 
young 

people can 
hear the 

voice of all 
young 

people, and 

develop their 
services 

within a 
framework 

of the 
Children 

First vision  

better 
represent the 

young people 
they work with. 

Young people’s 
engagement 

with services 
will improve.  

is seen as key 
part of 

everyone’s 
role in West 

Sussex. 
Development 

of Voice 
Champions. 

Development 
of discrete 

voice groups 

ie out of 
county, 

children 
seeking 

asylum. 
Development 

of under 10’s 
Children We 

Care For work. 
Development 

of Informal 
activities for 

young people 
we care for 

and care 

experienced 
young people. 

Revised 

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 58 

their voice 
heard in 

services ie 
Mind of My 

own app  

Comms 
strategy. 

WSCC virtual 
school 

Young People 
being actively 

involved in the 
planning, 

preparation 
and delivery of 

events that 
affect them 

and their 
peers 

That all 
service 

sectors have a 
joined-up 

approach to 
participation 

and that there 
is a clear 

strategy in 
place that 

steers it to 
become the 

most effective 
it can be  

Engagement 
from various 

sectors, 
people, 

management 
within the 

Council and 
promoting 

that the 
young people 

will actually 
make a 

difference 
and that 

participation 

is not simply 
paid lip 

service to 

So that we 
can support 

more of our 
young 

people more 
effectively 

That the 
mistakes and 

errors of the 
past will not be 

repeated 
 

All service 
sectors have a 

joined-up 
approach to 

participation 
and that there 

is a clear 
strategy. 

 
Staff, foster 

carers and 
children/youn

g people in 
involved in 

activities 

together 
 

 

Fostering All current 

activity is via 
the 

Participation 
and 

Engagement 

I want to see 

all staff, foster 
carers and 

children/youn
g people in 

involved in 
activities 

All (or most) 

of our 
policies are 

not children 
focused, 

most children 
and young 

because it 

will put 
Children 

First and not 
just a fancy 

strap line 
that is 

Should improve 

the quality of 
the services we 

provide 

Training 

should include 
all senior 

managers, 
foster carers, 

staff etc with 
young people 

P
age 74

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 59 

team in the 
service.  

together so 
when we have 

training it 
includes 

everyone eg 
Total Respect 

training 
should include 

all senior 
managers, 

foster carers, 

staff etc with 
young people 

people would 
not read or 

have any 
involvement 

in our 
policies and 

practice 
guidance. We 

need to ban 
the use of 

acronyms in 

our literature 
and 

meetings!!!!! 

visually 
appealing. 

Children will 
understand 

what we are 
trying to do 

to improve 
their lives 

Communication

s and 
Engagement 

for Children 
and young 

peopleYPL 

It's run by a 

team who 
genuinely care 

about our 
children and 

young people 

who want to 
ensure that all 

children and 
young people 

have a voice 
that is truly 

heard. Some 
of the things 

we ask 
children and 

Children and 

young people 
feel 

empowered to 
work with us, 

they can see 

the impact of 
their input and 

benefit 
personally 

from 
engagement 

e.g. learning 
new skills, 

meeting new 
people, 

We can get 

stuck 
sometimes 

into the 
thought 

process of 

'This is how 
we do things 

here' and we 
need to be 

open to 
change and 

doing things 
differently. 

In the past 
we have 

To gain 

greater 
engagement 

and to get 
children and 

young 

people 
excited to be 

involved. 

More engaged 

children and 
young people 

and a clearer 
offer to our 

colleagues. 

Young people 

see the impact 
of their input 

and benefit 
personally 

from 

engagement 

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 60 

young people 
to do can be 

very focused 
on 

consultation 
and feel a bit 

like an 
afterthought 

and in 
anything we 

do with them I 

think it is 
important they 

see the 
footprint they 

have created. 

building 
confidence, 

feeling valued. 

given 
children and 

young people 
a free reign 

on things 
(like knife 

crime 
posters) and 

then when it 
hasn't 

worked out 

other people 
have been 

blamed and 
the children 

and young 
people feel 

disengaged - 
we need the 

right people 
in the room, 

to have 
honest 

conversation 
and 

boundaries 

with our 
young people 

- this is (I 
believe) how 

P
age 76

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 61 

most of us 
would 

behave with 
our own 

children so 
why would 

this scenario 
be different? 

Children We 

Care for and 
Care Leavers 

Some 

inconsistent 
involvement in 

interviews, 
some 

improved work 
with the Care 

Leavers 
Advisory board 

which needs 
more 

embedding, 

but a lack of 
participation in 

thinking about 
systemic 

change 

That 

participation is 
the starting 

point- young 
people 

chairing 
reviews and 

setting 
agenda, it 

being 
mandatory to 

include them 

interview 
processes, but 

also to include 
their views 

when it comes 
to the design 

of policies, 
processes and 

forms 

It needs a 

whole service 
commitment- 

and for this 
to be a 

priority- 
where young 

people set 
agendas 

some 
professional 

priorities 

might go by 
the wayside- 

and we need 
senior level 

support to 
say that's 

OK- we also 
need to 

adequately 
provide 

We will 

never be 
'Children 

First' without 
putting 

participation 
centrally 

Children and 

young people 
will be engaged 

and 
empowered, 

and our 
priorities will 

be their 
priorities- 

which means 
they will have 

more 

confidence we 
have listened, 

that we care 
and that they 

matter 

Young people 

chairing 
reviews and 

setting 
agenda 

 
Include their 

views when it 
comes to the 

design of 
policies, 

processes and 

forms 

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 62 

support to 
young people 

to assume 
these roles 

 

 
  

P
age 78

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 63 

6.5.4. Champions Opportunities to Develop Participation - Table 
This table highlights the opportunities for children and young people to engage in service areas identified from the 

Champions Programme. 
 

Service Area Identified Opportunities to Develop Participation 
 

Children's commissioning Create a platform to engage with young people directly on what and how they 

would like to be involved in engaging and affecting change in the Council 

Youth Justice Move away from gathering feedback only on items on our (professional) agenda. 

 
Services to be based on participation and run and managed by service users with 

support. 
 

Break the cycle of participation being a response to a certain issue, as opposed to a 
culturally normal fundamental pillar of our service structure. 

 

Properly compensate people for their participation. 

Programme Management 

Office - Children First 

Clear communication to teams / Programme Management Office about how to 

engage early in the process. 
 

Different and innovative ways of engaging Young People, not just surveys. 
 

Clear routes to communicate back to Young People. 

Children’s residential 
services 

Communication between the Participation teams and residential. 
 

More of an awareness of how we can support our young people to engage with this 
service. 

 
More connection for the young people with the participation team. 

 

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 64 

Give young people meaningful reward and praise for thier efforts 

Voice and Participation 

Team 

Development of Voice Charter Mark. Use of Service Strategy to ensure voice is seen 

as key part of everyone’s role in West Sussex. Development of Voice Champions. 
Development of discrete voice groups i.e. out of county, children seeking asylum. 

Development of under 10’s Children We Care For work. Development of Informal 

activities for young people we care for and care experienced young people. Revised 
Comms strategy.  

WSCC virtual school All service sectors have a joined-up approach to participation and that there is a 
clear strategy. 

 
Staff, foster carers and children/young people in involved in activities together 

 
 

Fostering Training should include all senior managers, foster carers, staff etc with young 

people 

Communications and 

Engagement for CYPL 

Young people see the impact of their input and benefit personally from engagement 

Children We Care For and 
Care Leavers 

Young people chairing reviews and setting agenda 
 

Include their views when it comes to the design of policies, processes and forms 

SEND Commissioning  SEND Participation forum  

Intensive Planning Team  

Education and Skills Autism in Schools programme 
SEND and Inclusion Strategy  

 
7.5.5. Champions Action Plan – Developing Participation 

How the Champions will support the development of participation with children and young people 
 

Over the next 12 months Champions will work collectively to a create action plan to develop the participation 
opportunities that have been identified in our work with them. 

P
age 80

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 65 

 
From the work with Champions so far, we have identified some early opportunities that will support the 

development of meaningful engagement with children and young people. 
 

Annual Surveys 
Champions to develop annual surveys to consult with children and young people 

We recognise that capturing of the views of children and young people is key to ensuring that our services can be 
developed to best support them. We also understand that service areas request consultations at different times 

throughout the year, many surveys ask similar questions and can lead to ‘over consultation’ with children and 
young people.  

 
Through the Champions we will agree annual surveys to hear the views of children and young people. These 

surveys will be designed to ensure we ask children and young people relevant questions, so that all service areas 
can benefit from children and young people’s feedback. We will also ensure that surveys will be scheduled 

mindfully throughout the year so that children and young people are not ‘over consulted’ or asked the same 

question multiple times. 
 

Training 
For children and young people, staff and leaders 

It is important to develop the relevant skills to understand how to engage with children and young people. 
Providing development opportunities to staff, children and young people and leaders will help us build a culture of 

outstanding participation. 
 

We plan to explore development opportunities for children and young people to learn skills in facilitation, 
presenting and leadership, so they can effectively engage with our service. For staff we aim to offer training that 

develops their skills in engaging with children and young people, with a particular focus on engagement with 
LGBTQ+. Finally training for leaders which will be based on our new approach to participation ensuring we have 

buy-in at every level of West Sussex.  

  

P
age 81

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 66 

7. Acting on our 3 Pillars of Participation 

How we plan to ensure children and young people are listened to, their views shared, 

and we act upon what they say. 

 

 
 

 

P
age 82

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 67 

7.1 Listening 
We define listening as the act of listening to children and young people and their opinions, views and 

ideas being unconditionally welcomed. Opportunities for listening include our forums, hosting events for 
children and young people and more. 
 
7.1.1. Developing our Forums 

We know that we need to engage with more children and young people of different ages, and needs, from diverse 
backgrounds and ensure that we have a space for them to regularly meet, discuss and share views about the 

services they receive. We have committed to developing our forums to ensure we provide a space for all children 
and young people. 

 
- ‘Mini’ Children in Care Council  

A forum for children and young people aged 6-10 years old 

 

- Forum groups for specific children and young people  
Engagement with Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children and Children in Need 

- SEND peer support sessions  

to support young people with more complex communication needs to engage in our Young Voices forum  

 

 
7.1.2. Monthly Activities for Children in Need, Children We Care For, and Care Leavers 

Monthly opportunities to bring Children in Need, Children We Care For, and Care Leavers together 
We plan to work alongside the services to provide opportunities for care leavers to have a space to connect with 

their peers, have fun and learn new things. We plan to host monthly events such as: 
 

1) Cooking sessions in partnership with local restaurants  
2) Skills workshops with tradespeople to allow children and young people to learn simple household skills like 

tiling, and minor household repairs  
3) Informal fun activities such as bowling, games nights and pizza evenings  

 
Our events will be shared with young people via our social media pages including YourSpace.   

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 68 

 

7.2. Sharing 
We define sharing as the act of communicating children and young people’s ideas, views and opinions. 

This can be done through conversation at meetings, using digital and media, engagement in training, 
recruitment of staff and more. 
 

7.2.1. Lunch and Listen 
Children and young people sharing their views directly with senior leaders 

Our ‘Lunch and Listen’ events aim to bring together children and young people and senior leaders to have lunch 
and talk. We think it is important to create informal, accessible environments for children and young people of 

their choosing so they are able to share openly and directly with people who make decisions about the services 
they receive. 

 
The senior leaders we will invite to our lunch and listen event will be those who are able to influence change 

directly, such as the Director and Assistant Director, as well as relevant service leads.  
 

We hope, by bringing children and young people and leaders together, we will help leaders hear the views of 
children and young people directly and allow children and young people to have their voice heard. Together 

leaders and children and young people can work to create positive change.  
 

Young Inspectors  

Care Leavers inspecting and providing feedback on our services 
There is no better person to give us feedback on our leaving care services than care leavers. That is why we plan 

to develop a ‘Young Inspectors’ programme to provide care leavers with the skills and opportunities to inspect 
what we do and share with us their feedback. 

 
The services we plan to engage Care Leavers in inspecting are: 

- Residential Children’s Homes 
- Supported Accommodation 

 

P
age 84

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 69 

7.2.2. Young Person’s Scrutiny Committee  
Children and young people holding our leaders to account 

We aim to set up a young person’s scrutiny committee that will hold our leaders to account. This group will meet 
on a bi-monthly basis and allow children and young people in care and care leavers to bring challenge to decision 

makers such as the Assistant Director and Cabinet Member for Children and Children and young people. The 
decision makers will then be able to hear, discuss solutions and feedback at subsequent meetings the differences 

and outcomes that have been achieved. The challenges will come from collated actions from the facilitated groups 
and forums outlined in Section 6.2. These are made up of children and young people including those  in care and 

care leavers, and West Sussex County Council .  
  

P
age 85

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 70 

7.3. Acting 
We define acting as taking tangible action based on the views, ideas and opinions of children and young 

people. This includes changes to services, developing children and young people’s ideas, committing 
resource and more. 
 
7.3.1. Development of the Children and Young People’s Plan 

Engaging children and children and young people in creating a plan that is right for them. 
We know that it is important to have a plan for our children. We also believe that children and young people 

should have a say in how we support them. That is why we will work with children and young people on their own 
version of the Children and Young People’s plan, and this will guide and focus the review of our current plan in 

2022-2023.  
 

Our plan has 6 key principles that explain how we will support children and young people: 

1. Voice and Children First 
2. Welfare Safeguarding and Exploitation 

3. Mental Health and Wellbeing 
4. Early Intervention 

5. Access to Services and Resources 
6. Transitions 

 
We aim to engage children and young people with the current plan by: 

 
1. Creating an Accessible Version of the Current Plan 

We know that it’s important for all children and young people to access our plan. We will be working with our 
graphics, digital and relevant teams to ensure we have a version of the plan that is accessible to all children. 

 
2. Developing Lesson Plans for Schools to Engage Pupils 

P
age 86

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 71 

These plans will help us to: communicate the CYPP and ensure children and young people are aware of it; hear 
feedback on what children and young people hope it will change; feedback into the Children First Board, 

creating youth accountability, consistent feedback, and actions. 
 

3. Youth Accountability Workshops 

We will facilitate 3 workshops to explain the plan, capture expectations and gain feedback from children and 

young people about the changes they feel have happened since the plan’s launch and celebrate successes.  
 

- Launch workshop 
To launch and highlight the plan and engage by asking them to share their expectations and changes 

they would like to see. 
 

- Expectations workshop  
Reviews children and young people’s expectations and hear the changes that they feel have happened in 

the past 6 months 

 
- Celebration workshop   

To capture and share positive changes that have come from the commitments in the plan. 
 

7.3.2. Participation Training for our Service and Partners 
Sharing this strategy with the whole service 

To change the way we provide participation in West Sussex, this strategy must be widely understood and shared 
across our service and our partners. 

 
We plan to develop training for our whole service that focuses on: 

 
- 3 Participation Pillars 

- 6 Organisational Challenges 
- 5 Rules of Engagement 

 

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 72 

We know that if we can provide a clear understanding of how our participation works - 3 Participation Pillars - what 
we are trying to overcome - 6 Organisational Challenges - and what meaningful and ethical participation looks like 

- 5 Rules of Engagement - we can align our service under a common vision to ensure we are all working 
collectively to put Children First. 

 
7.3.3. Children’s Charters 

Building on The Promise for children and young people 
Our ‘Children’s Charters’ will show we are committed to building on the work we have done to develop ‘The 

Promise’ for children and young people.  
 

These Children’s Charters will be developed to enable them to be created for children and young people who are:  
 

- Children in Need   
- Children under Child Protection   

- Children who engage with our Family Safeguarding model  

- Children We Care For 
- Care Leavers  

- SEND  
 

The charters will be co-produced with service leads and children and young people in 2022. We hope that our 
Children’s Charters will enable children and young people to hold services accountable and enable them to know 

what they can expect. It will also allow for the development of children’s voice within these services.   
 

7.3.4. Annual Events  
Celebrating with children and young people 

We recognise the importance of celebrating with children and young people, highlighting positive moments and 
making sure children and young people feel valued and seen. We plan to facilitate 5 large annual events that bring 

children and young people together in an informal and celebratory way, these include: 
1) Our Exceptional People in Care awards to take place each Summer  

2) Christmas Celebration for Children We Care For and care leavers  

P
age 88

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 73 

3) A listening celebration event, allowing children and young people in West Sussex to have their voice heard in 
the Children and Young People’s Plan  

4) A celebration particularly focused on our unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and children and young 
people.  

5) SEND Festival and fun day 
  

P
age 89

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 74 

8. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

Over the next three years we are committed to ensuring children and young people 

with special educational needs or disabilities are listened to, their views are shared, 

and we act to provide the best services. It is our ambition that we have an inclusive 

participation service that shows we put all Children First 

The Voice and Participation Team mission is to take a youth led approach to making a 

difference in the lives of children and young people in an honest, energetic, 

enthusiastic and creative way. To commit to this we have a strong and dedicated 

team of staff who are focused on putting Children First. 
  

P
age 90

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 75 

9.1.   Current Team Structure 
How West Sussex currently structures the Voice and Participation Team 

 
Current Structure Map 

 

 
 

 

Daniel Ruaux

(AD Corporate 
Parenting)

Claire 

(Youth Worker)

Sarah

(Partnership 
Support Officer)

Elleshia

(Business Admin 
Apprentice) 

Caz

(Digital 
Participation Lead)

Toby 

(Manager)

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 76 

Current Roles and Responsibility – Table 
 

Role Full/Part 
Time 

Main Responsibilities Grade 

Team 

Manager  

Full Time  • Co-ordinating and developing partnership work and projects 

with a range of appropriate local partners and internal services 
• Managing Voice and Participation team and ensuring Children's 

voice at heart of council services, service user involvement and 
working in partnership. 

 

12 

Youth 

Worker 

Full time  Facilitating youth work session with young people  YW2 

Partnership 
Support 

Officer 

Full time  ‘Support key developments and projects including EPIC Awards, 
Social Media communications and other CICC/Care Leaver Activities, 

as well as leading on communication strategies and reporting 

8 

Business 

Admin 
Apprentice 

Full time  Provide administration support for team  3 (end date 

July 2022)  

Digital 

Participation 
Lead 

Full time  Provide digital lead work on social media, website and youth cabinet  10 

Senior 
Advisor  

Full Time  Provide project management on voice work  11 - Vacant 

Based in SEND Commissioning Team 

SEND 
Participation 

Lead  

Full time  Coordinating and developing SEND youth participation across 
services, working with partners 

Facilitating Young Voices youth forum   

10 

SEND 
participation 

assistant  

Part time  Provide administration support 
Support delivery of Young Voices outreach and activity days  

(end date July 
2022)  

P
age 92

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 77 

 
 

9.2.   Future Team Structure 
How West Sussex plans to structure the Voice and Participation Team to adapt to the needs of children and young 

people today. 
 

Future Structure 

 

P
age 93

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 78 

 
 

 

 

NB: The Apprentice Business Admin Support role ends in Summer 2022.  

Recruitment to the Voice and Participation Support Worker roles will come from our care experienced young people.    

 

Future Roles and Responsibility – Table 

 

Role Full/Part 
Time 

Main Responsibilities Band/Salary 

Team 
Manager 

F • Co-ordinating and developing partnership work and projects with 
a range of appropriate local partners and internal services 

• Managing Voice and Participation team and ensuring Children's 

voice at heart of council services, service user involvement and 
working in partnership. 

 

12 

Participation 

Lead (wider 
voice 

groups)  

F • To be engaged in face-to-face youth work including evenings   
 

• Actively developing and delivering innovative voice and participation 
youth work programmes   
 

• To undertake a lead for targeted groups and projects for Voice and 
Participation team 

10 

Participation 

Lead 
(Children 

We Care For 
(and care 

leavers)  

F • To be engaged in face-to-face youth work including evenings   
 

• Actively developing and delivering innovative voice and participation 
youth work programmes   
 

To undertake a lead for targeted groups and projects for Voice and 
Participation team 

10 

P
age 94

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 79 

Partnership 
Business 

Support  
Officer 

F ‘Support key developments and projects including EPIC Awards, Social 
Media communications and other CICC/Care Leaver Activities, as well 

as leading on communication strategies and reporting 

8 

Apprentice 

Admin 
Support 

(Contract 
end date 

July 2022)  

F Provide administration support for team  3  

Participation 

Support 
Worker 

F Role for care experienced young person to act as support worker for 

voice groups with targeted children and young people. 

3 

Participation 

Support 
Worker 

F Role for care experienced young person to act as support worker for 

voice groups with targeted children and young people. 

3 

 
 

 
  

P
age 95

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 80 

10. Key Performance Indicators 

How we will know that our participation with children and young people is effective 
 

Measuring the impact of our work is important to ensuring that children know they come first. We want to be held 
accountable for ensuring that children and young people’s views and listened to, shared and acted upon so that we 

can continue to shape and develop our services to meet their needs. 
 

In the ‘Key Performance Indicator – Table’ below we set out how we will measure the impact of our services 
mapped against our ‘6 Organisational Challenges’ with an explanation of the aim, the strategy and the specific 

measures. 
 

Key 

Performance 
Indicator 

Organisational 

Challenge 

Aim Strategy Impact 

Measurement 

Increased 
forum 

engagement 

Diversity and 
inclusion 

To increase the numbers of 
children and young people who 

attend the following forums: 
- Children in care Council 

- Care Leavers Advisory Board 

- Young Voices  

Clearer marketing 
materials designed 

for children and 
young people 

 

More frequent 
communication about 

the forums 

Recording the 
number of children 

and young people 
who attend 

Increase 

Diversity and 
inclusion of 

engagement 

Diversity and 

inclusion 

To increase the engagement of 

children and young people from all 
backgrounds, including but not 

exclusive to: 
- Black and Asian 

backgrounds 

Develop relationships 

with external 
organisations 

supporting children 
and young people 

Recording the 

identity and 
number of children 

and young people 
who engage across 

all opportunities  

P
age 96

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 81 

- LGBTQ+  
- SEND, including those with 

more complex needs 

from diverse 
backgrounds 

 
Hosting events 

targeted at children 
and young people 

from diverse 
backgrounds 

Children's voice 
at heart of 
council services 

Traditional To ensure that children’s voice is 

at the heart of everything we do. 
Aim to make sure that we are 

listening to all children and young 
people and their views are 

considered.  

One “Big Voice” 

survey annually to 
capture views of 

children and young 
people.  

Work detailed in 
strategy reviewed at 

regular intervals.  

Number of people 

who engage in 
survey – 

statistically 
significant  

Power  To ensure that engagement with 
children and young people is not 

tokenistic  

Expectation that 
there be at least one 

young person on 
panels with influence 

and power. That 
children and young 

people’s views be 
taken into account in 

wider area 

Attendance at 
board. Voice 

Chartermark  

Set up new 
youth forums 

Diversity and 
inclusion 

To set up youth forums for 
residential, mental health, 

Unaccompanied asylum-seeking 
children and out of county children 

and young people.  

Create a brand for 
the new forums 

 
Clear agenda 

 

Children and young 
people attending 

P
age 97

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 82 

Run campaigns to 
raise the awareness 

of the forums 
 

Children and 

Young 
People’s 

views about 
participation 

All To find out if young people feel 

listened to in ways that work for 
them, if they feel their views are 

shared effectively, if they know 
that action is taken 

Consultation 

 Method to be co-
designed with young 

people 

Based on method 

to be co-designed.  

 

P
age 98

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 83 

11. Governance 

  

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 84 

12. References 
In developing this strategy, we have engaged with: 

- Vision for Children, Young People and Learning 
- Children First Plan 

- Children We Care For and Care Leavers Strategy 
- The Promise 

- Local Offer  
 
Additionally, we have taken guidance from: 

- Department for Education’s Government Design Principles. 
- Department for Education’s participation of young people in education, employment, or training. 

- Understanding accessibility requirements for public sector bodies (Gov.uk) 
- Plain English Campaign 
- UN Convention on the Rights of the Child 

- Hart’s Ladder of Participation 
- The Gunning Principle’s 

- Lundy’s Model of the Child Participation 
  

P
age 100

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix



 

 85 

13. Contact 

If you would like to speak to us about this strategy you can contact the ‘Voice and 

Participation Team’ by emailing voice@westsussex.gov.uk or by calling 0330 222 

3314. 

P
age 101

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix

mailto:voice@westsussex.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Report to West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 

7 July 2022 

West Sussex COVID-19 Local Outbreak Engagement Board 

Report by: Alison Challenger, Director of Public Health 

 

Summary 

This report provides a quarterly update on the West Sussex COVID-19 Local Outbreak 

Engagement Board (LOEB). 

The Board was established as part of the Government’s requirements for the COVID-
19 National Test and Trace Programme and is accountable to the West Sussex Health 
and Wellbeing Board, as a sub-group of the Board, providing formal updates at its 

quarterly public meetings.   

Recommendation(s) to the Board  

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to; 

(1) Provide feedback on the progress of the West Sussex COVID-19 Local Outbreak 
Engagement Board (LOEB) since the last quarterly report to the Health and 

Wellbeing Board in April 2022. 

(2) To consider how the LOEB can continue to engage with residents and 
communities across West Sussex, maximising its collaborative strength as we 

continue progressing through the ‘Living with COVID-19’ phase of the 
pandemic.  

 

Relevance to Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

West Sussex Public Health’s COVID-19 response aims to minimise the impact of the 

virus on the population of West Sussex by controlling the COVID-19 rate of 
reproduction (R), reducing the spread of infection and saving lives. In line with the 
West Sussex Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy priorities, this preventative approach 

also aims to improve the overall health outcomes of West Sussex residents and 
reduce inequalities, supporting our local population during these challenging times.   

1 Background and context 

 The West Sussex member led Local Outbreak Engagement Board (LOEB) is a 

sub-group of the West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board, providing political 
ownership and public facing engagement and communication for outbreak 

response during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 The LOEB is a key part of the governance structure for the West Sussex COVID-
19 Local Outbreak Control Plan (LOCP). The Director of Public Health drives this 

Page 103

Agenda Item 7

http://www2.westsussex.gov.uk/ds/cttee/hwb/jhws2019to2024.pdf


 

 

local plan through the West Sussex COVID-19 Health Protection Board in 

collaboration with the West Sussex County Council (WSCC) Strategic 
Management Group (Gold command) and the LOEB. 

 As we progress through the Living with COVID-19 stage of the pandemic, the 

Chairman continues to regularly review meeting frequency. Following the 
Board’s decision in October 2021 to reduce meetings to every two months 

instead of monthly, the Chairman has decided to reduce this further to convene 
on a quarterly basis moving forward. As before, the Board will retain the 
flexibility and ability to regroup more frequently if required.   

 The Board has met once (22 April 2022) since the last formal update to the 

West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board in April 2022. 

 The next meeting will take place in September 2022 – date to be confirmed. 

 

Local Outbreak Engagement Board Progress Update 

 The LOEB continues to be committed to its role in bringing together key 

systems leaders across the County Council and the wider health and social care 
system in West Sussex to reduce the spread of infection and save lives across 
the county. 

 At the Board meeting in April, it was acknowledged that we are now in the 

living with COVID-19 stage of the pandemic, which is reflected in the quantity 
and regularity of surveillance data, as a result of reduced testing for the general 

population. It was recognised that face coverings and social distancing are now 
a personal choice, with many continuing to make these choices. 

 COVID-19 is still prevalent within our communities, although the impact is less 

than it was a year ago due to the success of the NHS COVID-19 Vaccination 
Programme. 

 Communications during this phase of the pandemic remain focused on 
amplifying national messages regarding living with COVID-19, including 

reminding people that the virus is still present and encouraging them to follow 
basic health protection measures, guidance on what to do if you have 

symptoms, and the importance and availability of vaccinations. 

 A range of communications across the County Council’s channels were planned 
for national World Immunisation Week 24 – 30 April (run by the World Health 

Organisation (WHO)), focusing messaging, in line with NHS partners, to 
encourage parents to get their children vaccinated for COVID-19, and other 
vaccinations, such as flu and MMR (measles, mumps and rubella). Additional 

messaging was planned to continue promoting the importance and availability 
of COVID-19 booster vaccinations for eligible groups. 

 NHS COVID-19 Vaccination Programme: a detailed update was received, 

highlighting that since the programme was launched in December 2020, there 
has been variation in uptake across the county, but generally, uptake has been 
excellent, and targeted work has been undertaken to promote vaccination 

where there have been barriers and inequity, for example roaming and pop-up 
vaccination sites. People are continuing to attend for their first and second 

doses, as part of the evergreen offer.  

Page 104

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 Updates were also provided on COVID-19 data, testing, and care homes 

(adults). 

 

2 Proposal details 

2.1 The purpose of this paper is to provide feedback on the progress of the West 

Sussex COVID-19 Local Outbreak Engagement Board (LOEB) since the last 
quarterly report to the Health and Wellbeing Board in April 2022.   

2.2 Views are sought from the West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board on how the 
LOEB can continue to engage with residents and communities across West 

Sussex, maximising its collaborative strength as we continue progressing 
through the ‘Living with COVID-19’ phase of the pandemic.  

 

3 Consultation, engagement and advice 

3.1 Not applicable. 

 

 

Contact: Alison Thomson, Public Health Lead – Partnerships Tel. 0330 222 4132 

Email: alison.thomson@westsussex.gov.uk  

 

Appendices: None 

 

Background papers: None 

Page 105

Agenda Item 7

mailto:alison.thomson@westsussex.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Report to West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 

7th July 2022 

West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021-2022 

Report by Annie Callanan, Independent Chair, West Sussex 
Safeguarding Adults Board, and Julie Phillips, Adults Social Care 

Assistant Director, Safeguarding, Planning and Performance, for West 

Sussex County Council 

 

Summary 

The West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (WSSAB) Annual Report for 2021-22 sets 
out the work achieved to deliver three statutory duties.  

It includes reporting on the Board subgroups’ activities and achievements to meet 

priorities set for 2021-22, Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs), Safeguarding and 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards data, and priorities for 2022-23. 

Recommendation(s) to the Board  

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to; 

(1) Actively support the WSSAB’s Strategic Plan, to improve prevention services and 

the experience of adults in West Sussex County Council who are at risk of abuse 
and/or neglect.   

(2) Provide feedback on how the Health and Wellbeing Board, as representative of 

the partner agencies, and within the Collaborative Working Agreement, will 
contribute to the WSSAB’s priorities for 2022-23.  

(3) Share learning and improvement which interfaces with Adult Safeguarding.  

 

Relevance to Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

The Four Boards Collaborative Working Agreement includes the interface between 

WSSAB and the Health and Wellbeing Board. The activity of WSSAB is relevant 
specifically in terms of enabling Adults who have care and support needs in West 
Sussex to be safe from abuse and/or neglect.   

1. Background and context 

1.1. The WSSAB was established in 2011 and comprises a core membership of 
 statutory partners from West Sussex County Council (WSCC), the NHS West 
Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Sussex Police. The wider Board 

members include a lay person, Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, 
Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust, South East Coast Ambulance 

Service, and members from the voluntary and private sector.  A full list of 
members can be found on our website. 

Page 107

Agenda Item 10

http://www2.westsussex.gov.uk/ds/cttee/hwb/jhws2019to2024.pdf
https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/about-us/our-members/


1.2. The purpose of the WSSAB is to safeguard adults with care and support needs. 

It does this by: 

• assuring itself that local safeguarding arrangements are in place as 
defined by the Care Act 2014 and statutory guidance; 

• assuring itself that safeguarding practice is person-centred and outcome-

focused; 

• working collaboratively to prevent abuse and neglect where possible; 

• ensuring agencies and individuals give timely and proportionate 
responses when abuse or neglect have occurred; 

• assuring itself that safeguarding practice is continuously improving and 

enhancing the quality of life of adults in its area. 

1.3. All Safeguarding Adults Boards have three core duties that it must do to fulfill 
statutory requirements: have a Strategic Plan, produce an Annual Report, and 

carry out Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs). 

1.4. The 2021-22 WSSAB Annual Report provides information about the Board and: 

• a Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) Case Study 

• the activity and achievements of the Board’s subgroups to meet the 
2021-212 Board priorities 

• Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) 

• Safeguarding and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards data 

• Compliments and complaints  

• Priorities for 2022-23  

• How to report a concern 

• How to contact the Board 

2. Proposal details 

2.1. It is proposed that the Independent Chair of the WSSAB along with West Sussex 
County Council’s Adults Social Care Assistant Director Safeguarding, Planning 

and Performance provide the annual update to the Health and Wellbeing Board in 
respect of the WSSAB’s activity for 2021-22. 

3. Consultation, engagement, and advice 

3.1. The WSSAB’s partnership has been engaged and consulted in the production of 

the 2021-22 Annual Report. 

 

Contact: Ru Gunawardana, West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board Manager, 0330 

222 28362, ru.gunawardana@westsussex.gov.uk 

Page 108

Agenda Item 10



Appendices Presentation Papers: WSSAB Annual Report 2021-2022 

 

Page 109

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

  

Annual Report 2021/22 

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



2 

Contents  
 

 

Contents ......................................................................................................................................... 2 

Foreword from Annie Callanan, Independent Chair ................................................................................. 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

About the West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (WSSAB) ................................................................... 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case study: Our Safeguarding Adults Review for TD ............................................................................... 5

Our three Board Priorities for 2021/22 ................................................................................................. 7

Our Subgroups and achievements ....................................................................................................... 8

Additional Board achievements ......................................................................................................... 11

What we did to improve Safeguarding ................................................................................................ 12

Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) ................................................................................................... 14

SAR Referrals and Reviews in 2021/22 ............................................................................................... 15

Learning and themes from Reviews ................................................................................................... 16

Data ............................................................................................................................................. 17

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) ........................................................................................... 19

Compliments and complaints ............................................................................................................ 20

Our priorities for 2022/23 ................................................................................................................ 21

Report a concern ............................................................................................................................ 22

Contact us..................................................................................................................................... 22

P
age 112

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



3 

Foreword from Annie Callanan, Independent Chair 
 

This is my fifth Annual Report and 
marks my fourth year as 
Independent Chair of the West 

Sussex Safeguarding Adults 
Board.  

Following the unprecedented 

challenges as a result of COVID-
19 in 2020/21, this last year has 
been a continued challenge for 

both the Board and our partner 
agencies. In the past year we have continued to 

adapt to new challenges, whist considering the 
impact of our work on our partner agencies. With the 
commitment of our Statutory Partners, Board 

Members, and with the efficient and diligent work of 
the Board Support Team, these challenges have not 

prevented the Board in progressing our planned 
work. All of our Board Meetings and Subgroup 

meetings have continued as scheduled this year; this 
has ensured continuation, as far as possible, to the 
vital work to protect adults at risk of abuse and 

neglect. 

I am pleased to say that by doing this, we have been 
able to deliver on the vast majority of our objectives 

as outlined our annual Business Plan, including those 
which were postponed last year due to the impact of 
the pandemic pressures across the partnership.  

I sincerely thank all our members for making this 
possible. 

Later in this report you will read the key 
achievements for all of our Subgroups; to highlight 

but a few: the Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) 
Subgroup has focussed on progressing actions 

resulting from the National SAR Analysis Project, to 
improve the quality and experience of SARs; in our 
Learning and Policy Subgroup, we have focussed on 

the learning from SARs by creating several learning 
briefings and podcasts on key safeguarding themes; 

our Quality and Performance Subgroup has focussed 
on gaining assurance from the pan-Sussex 
Safeguarding Self-Assessment and case file audits; 

within our Quality Assurance and Safeguarding 
Information Subgroup, we have strengthened our 

use of data to understand and gain assurance of 
safeguarding activity; and our Multi-Agency Risk 

Management Subgroup has continued to support 
high-risk cases. 

Through the work progressed by the Board in the 
past year we are assured that adults with care and 

support needs in West Sussex are safer as a result. 
We acknowledge that there is more to do and have 

plans in place to progress new objectives this coming 
year. 

  

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



4 

About the West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board 

(WSSAB)  

 

Our Board was established in 2011.  

 
It has a core membership of Statutory Partners 
from: 

 
• West Sussex County Council (WSCC)  

• NHS West Sussex Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG)  

• Sussex Police 

 
Membership also incluses a number of other 

partners.  
 
The purpose of a Safeguarding Aduts Board (SAB) is 

to safeguard adults with care and support needs by 
ensuring that: 

 
• Local safeguarding arrangements are in place 

as defined by the Care Act 2014 and statutory 

guidance. 
• Safeguarding practice is person-centred  and 

outcome-focused. 
• Safeguarding practice is continuously 

improving and enhancing the quality of life of 
adults in its area. 

• Agencies give timely and proportionate 

responses when abuse or neglect have 
occurred. 

• Agencies are working collaboratively to 

prevent abuse and neglect where possible. 
 
SABs have three core duties to fulfill statutory 

requirements: 
 

• Have a Strategic Plan  
• Produce an Annual Report 
• Carry out Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) 

 
You can find out more about our core duties on our 

website.

Established in 

2011 

P
age 114

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix

https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/about-us/our-members/
https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/about-us/our-members/
https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/about-us/our-purpose/


5 

Case study: Our Safeguarding Adults Review for TD

About TD 
 

 

TD was a 63-year-old man described by his brother as 
very caring, but that he was also prone to mood 

swings when not corrected by medication. They grew 
up together with their parents and grandparents, and 
his brother recalls that TD had a difficult childhood 

due to a speech difficulty, which meant that he 
received unkind comments. His schizophrenia began 

in his teenage years and subsequently worsened. TD’s 
brother feels that the stress on their parents was a 
contributory factor in their separation, after which TD 

continued to live at home with his mother.  

Throughout his life, TD had a number of mental health 
inpatient admissions. During one stay he met his life-
long partner. Initially they lived together, however, 

subsequently they moved into separate 
accommodation. TD experienced a couple of moves, 

before becoming a resident in a Nursing Home. TD 
died in Hospital in November 2019 and, in the eight 
months prior to his death, there were concerns about 

abuse and neglect. In preparing for an Inquest into 
TD’s death there were found to be concerns relating to 

risk management and safeguarding decisions and 
actions.  
 

Our Review  
 

Our Review identified the learning required to ensure 
that future risk is minimised to other vulnerable 

adults. In the spirit of making safeguarding personal, 
TD’s brother provided information about TD and a 
perspective on the care received from agencies. The 

Review considered key areas, and within several of 
these, TD’s brother provided views; these are shared 

below:  
 
How effective was needs and risk assessment, 

and communication? 
 

TD’s brother considers that the Nursing Home was 
‘not geared up’ to meet his complex needs and that 
TD developed pressure ulcers because there was a 

delay in providing a pressure relieving mattress. He 
also feels that hospital discharge was rushed, that 

‘systems let him down’, and that agencies could have 
communicated more effectively. 
 

How effectively was mental capacity and the 
person’s voice addressed?  

 
TD wished to move to Berkshire and, whilst his 
brother acknowledges that the funding authority were 

finding it difficult to find a suitable placement, he feels 
that this was an unmet need, and that transfer would 

have made visiting easier. He believes that this should 

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



6 

have been more proactively followed up. He was 

aware and in agreement for medication being 
administered covertly at times as he felt it was 

necessary for TD’s needs and risks to be addressed. 
 

 

 

 

  

How effective were Safeguarding Adults 
responses in reducing the risk of abuse and 
neglect?  

TD’s brother states that TD’s partner had been raising 

concerns about physical abuse of TD by staff at the 
Nursing Home. TD’s brother would discuss these 
concerns directly with the Nursing Home but, in view 

of TD and his partner’s mental health conditions, he 
did not and still does not believe that his brother was 

physically abused or neglected. 

Outcome of Review 

 
Recommendations for our Board were made 

considering the views of TD’s brother, alongside 
information provided by agencies.  

TD’s brother considered that the following 
recommendations were appropriate measures to 

reduce the risk of similar circumstances arising in 
future: 

• A multi-agency risk management meeting, 
leading to a co-ordinated response, ‘could have 

helped’; particularly as transfer was not 
sufficiently prioritised.  

• Increased prioritisation of TD’s wishes in 

respect to transfer would have been beneficial, 

as he does not consider that the Nursing Home 

was appropriate to meet his needs.  
• TD’s brother is not concerned about the 

decision-making regarding covert medication 
and, having Lasting Power of Attorney for 

health and welfare and finances, he was aware 
of and supportive of this practice when 
necessary. He was not aware of a Mental 

Capacity Assessment having been undertaken 
at any time.  

• He was not aware of any Safeguarding Adults 
considerations and agrees that this may have 
been a potential vehicle to a more effective 

care management response.  
• TD’s brother considers that improved 

communication between agencies would be 
beneficial in meeting the needs of people in 
future. 

 

 

As a result of discussions with TD’s brother and 

involved agencies, recommendations were made 
under five key areas, noted below. These are being 
taken forward in a multi-agency action plan to ensure 

learning and future risk is minimised.  

1. Planned and completed actions 
2. Multi-agency risk management 
3. Safeguarding Adults thresholds and enquiries 

4. Mental Capacity Act training and recording 
5. Service user voice 

 
The Safeguarding Adults Desktop Review in respect of 
TD was published in March 2022 alongside a learning 

briefing and podcast to help promote and support 
learning.     

P
age 116

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix

https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/media/bkaoizam/td-review-report.pdf
https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/media/bkaoizam/td-review-report.pdf
https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/media/dzzmxqn4/td-review-learning-briefing.pdf
https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/media/dzzmxqn4/td-review-learning-briefing.pdf
https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/media/vsybizqw/td-review-podcast.m4a


7 

Our three Board Priorities for 2021/22  

 

We took forward a range of actions, via our Subgroup 
workplans, to deliver on our three priorities. These 
were: 

 

 

 

Collaborative working focussing on: 

• Information sharing 
• Monitoring of safeguarding concerns  
• Safeguarding pathways  

Learning and embedding practice focussing on: 

• Risk assessment  
• Professional curiosity 
• Understanding of differences between quality 

and safeguarding 

• Understanding of safeguarding policy and 
procedure  

Assurance and engagement focussing on: 
• Compliance with safeguarding policy and 

procedure 
• Person-centred approaches 

• Consideration of protected characteristics 
• Engaging with the private and voluntary care 

sector and families/representatives 

• Multi-agency auditing

 

  

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



8 

Our Subgroups and achievements 

 

Our Subgroups deliver on the work of the Board in 
order to meet the Board’s Annual Business Plan and 
Board priorities.  

We have six Subgroups, which are comprised of five 

working subgroups and one decision-making Chairs 
Subgroup. The Terms of Reference (ToR) for each of 

our subgroups can be found on our website.  
 
Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) Subgroup 

 
• Meets monthly and is chaired by our Board 

representative from Sussex Community NHS 
Foundation Trust (SCFT). 

• Considers SAR referrals and the process 

thereafter. 
• Attended by a core group of Statutory Partners, 

Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 
(SPFT) and SCFT. 

 

SAR Subgroup achievements this year 

• Progression of six Reviews and consideration of 
10 new referrals, of which three met the criteria 
for a SAR and Reviews were commissioned 

(further details can be found in the SAR section 
of this report). 

• Monitoring of themes of Reviews/Referrals to 
consider prominent themes and feeding these 
back to our Quality and Performance Subgroup, 

to seek assurance that learning is taken 
forward. 

• Progressed actions resulting from the National 

SAR Analysis Project. 
• Further focus on composition of Review panels 

to ensure appropriate participation, including 
from the private and voluntary sector. 

• Produced guidance for SAR panel members and 

Reviewers, to ensure clear understanding of 
role and expectations.  

• Revised and agreed Subgroup ToR. 
• Produced a SAR Subgroup Members Pack which 

includes ToR, SAR criteria, assurance process, 

SAR methodologies, and expectations of 
Reviewers to ensure that this information is 

clear and easily accessible.  
• Revised Review and publications processes. 
• Sought and considered feedback from 

professionals alongside the feedback from 
individuals/families involved in Reviews to help 

improve Reviews processes. 

  

P
age 118

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix

https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/publications/strategic-plan/
https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/about-us/our-subgroups/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/analysis-safeguarding-adult-reviews-april-2017-march-2019
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/analysis-safeguarding-adult-reviews-april-2017-march-2019


9 

Quality and Performance Subgroup 

 
• Meets quarterly, chaired by a Sussex Police 

representative. 
• Has oversight of, and response to, Board 

assurance such as multi-agency audits and 
analysis, and response to safeguarding data.  

• Attended by Statutory Partners and senior leads 

across the partnership. 
 

Quality and Performance Subgroup 
achievements this year 
 

• Arranged, held, and followed up actions 
resulting from the bi-annual pan-Sussex 

Safeguarding Self-Assessment process. 
• Developed a tool and process, and undertook, 

case file audits in relation to; transition and 

safeguarding and began the process of a self-
neglect and safeguarding case file audit.  

• Further use of data to identify possible health 
and social care inequalities. 
 

Learning and Policy Subgroup  
 

 

• Meets quarterly, chaired by a representative 
from the CCG. 

• Responds to learning from SARs and audits and 

develops policies and procedures.  
• Attended by Statutory Partners and senior leads 

across the partnership. 

Learning and Policy achievements this year 

 
• Confirmation of all partners agreement to the 

Information Sharing Protocol.  
• Contacted providers who report usually high or 

low number of safeguarding concerns to 
analyse data and identify possible gaps in 
knowledge/training and address these.  

• Created and published learning briefings and 
podcasts regarding: What is Safeguarding, 

Making Safeguarding Personal, Professional 
Curiosity, Safeguarding Young People Age 
17.5+, Self-Neglect, Risk Assessment, and 

Person-Centred Approaches.  
• Created and published learning briefings and 

podcasts for the six Reviews published this 
year.  

• Undertook a professional survey to seek 

awareness and understanding of the WSSAB, 
learning briefings, and podcasts; feedback from 

this will be taken forward in 2022/23. 
• Contributed to development of WSSAB 

Transitions and Safeguarding Protocol. 

• Developed a Safeguarding Young People section 
in the WSSAB new safeguarding leaflet.  

• Continued to promote new resources via our 
newsletters including features on Professional 
Curiosity and Self-Neglect.  

• Contributed to the review of sections of the 
Pan-Sussex Policies and Procedures. 

• Contributed to the development of a Pan-
Sussex Escalation and Resolution Protocol. 

 

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix

https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/learning-and-podcasts/learning-and-podcasts/
https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/learning-and-podcasts/learning-and-podcasts/


10 

Quality Assurance and Safeguarding Information 

Group (QASIG) 
 

 

 

• Meets monthly, co-chaired by a representative 
from WSCC and the CCG. 

• Responds to known risk and takes preventative 
actions regarding potential and emerging risk in 
the provider market. 

• Attended by Statutory Partners and senior leads 
across the partnership. 

QASIG achievements this year 

• Responding to safeguarding and quality 
concerns promptly by sharing information, 

including soft intelligence, between participating 
agencies. 

• Maintaining oversight of care homes with high 

and low reports of safeguarding and offering 
support to those providers. 

• Escalating concerns to Strategic Provider 
Concerns Framework.

• Cross-checking data between agencies and 

information sharing.  
 

 

Multi-Agency Risk Management Subgroup 
(MARM) 

• Meets monthly and is chaired by a 
representative from WSCC. 

• Ensures comprehensive multi-agency 
communication and information sharing to 
support agencies in managing the most 

complex and challenging cases. 

MARM achievements this year  

 
• Contributed to the creation of WSCC’s Complex 

Case Review Panel. 
• Encouraged collaborative and effective 

partnership working. 
• Raised awareness of other services/routes of 

support for professionals to access. 

 
Chairs Subgroup 

 
• Meets prior to each Board meeting and is 

chaired by our Independent Chair. 

• Is a decision-making forum which shares 
progression of Subgroup work plans and 

enables effective workflow between Subgroups. 
• Is attended by Subgroup Chairs and Statutory 

Partners. 

  

Subgroups of the 
Board 

6 

P
age 120

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



11 

Additional Board achievements  
 

This year we have been able to produce and widely 
promote new resources to help the residents of West 
Sussex to understand what safeguarding is and how 

to report safeguarding concerns. These resources are: 
 

• New safeguarding leaflet and easy read leaflet 
created with the support of local people with 
learning disabilities.  

• New posters with quotes from adults who have 
received Safeguarding support.  

• New safeguarding resource pack which includes 
a Safeguarding PowerPoint Presentation for 
community groups and agencies to use. 

• Promotional flyers to highlight key safeguarding 
messages to partnership staff. 

 
All of these resources can be found on our website.

 

 
  

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix

https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/what-is-safeguarding/leaflets-and-posters/


12 

What we did to improve Safeguarding 
 

Our Board looks to continuously improve safeguarding 
for the residents of West Sussex. We do this in a 

variety of ways. In 2021/22, we have achieved the 
following: 
  

Quarterly Partnership pressures and risks 
reporting 

Every Board meeting, we report on what pressures 

and risks may exist across the Partnership to make 
sure that all agencies are aware of any impact to 
services and consider how we may be able to support 

to mitigate against these risks. By doing this we are 
able to understand, know, and respond to issues 

which may affect safeguarding. This has been 
particularly important during the pandemic given 
increased demands on services.  

 
Presentations to Board 

 
To

 

 have assurance of safeguarding activity across the 

partnership, we invite speakers to our Board meetings 
to share information on specific service areas and 
projects. Last year, areas covered were: The National 

SAR Analysis Project; Domestic Homicide Reviews; 
Learning from Lives and Deaths – People with a 

Learning Disability and Autistic People (LeDeR); 
Report on Safeguarding by South East Coast 

Ambulance Service (SECAmb); our Collaborative 
Working Agreement; Report on Violence and 
Exploitation Reduction; Suicide Prevention; Bridging 

Hotels and Violence Against Women and Girls.  
 

Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) themes 

 
We have been monitoring the themes from our SAR 
referrals and Reviews, on a quarterly basis. We do 
this to identify any reoccurring themes so that we can 

promote learning by raising awareness of the 
resources we have to help improve practice (e.g., 

learning briefings, podcasts, and flyers). 
 
SAR action planning  

 
Last year we improved our process to make sure that 

learning was taken forward from our Reviews. This 
now involves agencies meeting to agree how they will 

individually and collectively improve safeguarding 
practice within set timescales. These meetings have 
been productive in ensuring multi-agency ownership 

and accountability for the changes that are needed to 
reduce safeguarding risk.  

   

P
age 122

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



13 

Pan Sussex Self-Assessment and Challenge 

Events  
 

Our bi-annual safeguarding self-assessment process 
identified where our agencies are in terms of their 

maturity in safeguarding practice, and the challenge   
events that followed helped agencies reflect and 
reconsider their self-assessment and what actions are 

needed to improve safeguarding in different areas 
such as safeguarding challenges; making safeguarding 

personal; leadership, governance, and accountability, 
and learning and organisational development. This has 
been an important assurance process for our Board to 

understand safeguarding activity in West Sussex and 
the actions that will be taken forward to improve it. 

 
Multi-agency case file audit for Transition and 
Safeguarding 

  
This audit followed our multi-agency challenge 

meeting on transition and Safeguarding in 2020. The 
audit for safeguarding cases for people age 17½ to  
25 helped us understand key themes and areas for 

development including making safeguarding personal; 
case recording; decision-making; professional 

curiosity; multi-agency working and managing 
ongoing risk. The majority of actions from the audit 
recommendations to improve practice in these areas 

have now been achieved. 

Multi-agency case file audit for Self-Neglect and 

Safeguarding 
 

This audit process was started this year and continues 
into 2022/23. It aims to evaluate and reflect on 

practice; learn from experience; inform multi-agency 
practice development; and strengthen multi-agency 
working. We will be taking forwards the actions 

identified to improve self-neglect practice next year. 
 

Safeguarding reporting by care providers 
 
Information on care providers who report a high or 

low level of safeguarding concerns has been collated 
and assessed every quarter to identify where there 

may be a knowledge gap or training need. It has 
involved questionnaire contact with care providers to 
gain assurance of safeguarding activity/inactivity  

and has also been an opportunity to provide additional 
advice and support. 

  

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



14 

Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs)  
  

 

 

 

  

SARs are a legal duty under the Care Act 2014. 

 
Purpose of a SAR  

The purpose of a SAR is to determine what agencies 
involved with an individual might have done 

differently that could have prevented harm or death.  
 
It is not an investigation, and it is not to apportion 

blame. Instead, it is to learn from situations, and to 
ensure that any multi-agency learning is applied to 

future cases to prevent similar harm occurring again.  

SAR criteria 

• An adult has died (including death by suicide), 

and abuse or neglect is known or suspected to 
be a factor in their death; or  

• An adult has experienced serious abuse or 

neglect which has resulted in permanent harm, 
reduced capacity, or quality of life (whether 

because of physical or psychological effects), or 
the individual would have been likely to have 
died but for an intervention; and  

• There is concern that partner agencies could 
have worked more effectively to protect the 

adult.

P
age 124

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



15 

SAR Referrals and Reviews in 2021/22 
 

 

  

 

 

In 2021/22 we published six Reviews with 

accompanying learning briefings and podcasts, which 
can be accessed on our website. Three of the Review 
referrals were received prior to April 2020 and 

resulted in a Thematic SAR for three adults, a SAR in 
relation to Jean Willis, and an Organisational Learning 

Review for a Residential Service.  

In 2021/22 a further six referrals met the criteria for a 

Review. Three of these were taken forward as a SAR 
and will be published in 2022/23, and three have been 

published this year. Two of the published Reviews 
were Desktop Reviews for TD and BK, and one was a 
Review in Rapid Time.  

There were also seven referrals received which did not 

proceed to a SAR, for the following reasons:  

• No abuse or neglect was identified in two cases.  

• No multi-agency learning was identified in two 
cases. 

• Referred prematurely in two cases. 
• Referred to WSSAB in error. 

Demographics  

 
Of the six Reviews published in 2020/21, five were for 
older adults and one for an older adult with a mental 

health diagnosis. There were two Reviews carried out 
for provider services for older adults (male and female 

residents) and the Thematic Review was with respect 
to one female and two males. For the Reviews carried 
out for just one individual, all were White British, one 

was female, and two were males. All six referrals were 
made by West Sussex County Council Adult Social 

Care and were all regarding concerns about neglect or 
acts of omission. 
  

Published SAR 
Reviews in 2021/22 

6 

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



16 

Learning and themes from Reviews  
 

  

  

The six Reviews published in 2020/21 identified key 

themes and areas of learning for the WSSAB to take 
forward. In summary these are:  

• Person-centred practice and Making 
Safeguarding Personal.  

• Proactive measures to improve health 
outcomes, care co-ordination, and assessments 

under statutory frameworks. 
• Adherence to Policies and Procedures including 

Safeguarding Policy; Self-Neglect Procedure; 

and the Mental Capacity Act. 
• Identifying and managing decision-making 

regarding risks. 
• Professional Curiosity. 
• Ambiguous, inconsistent, and inaccurate 

information was not clarified.  
• Impact of resources, operational pressures, and 

the national context.  
• Multi-agency working, approaches and 

information-sharing.  

• Management of quality concerns. 
• Processes for obtaining information and for 

making decisions. 

The following are specifically related to a care home:  

 
• Poor care and lack of responsiveness to care 

needs. 

• Lack of robust internal oversight. 
• Inadequate staffing levels and concerns with 

staff morale. 
• Lack of reporting of safeguarding and quality 

concerns. 
• Residents’ family members appear to have been 

unaware of concerns. 

• Staff management and supervision.   
 

Recommendations from all published Reviews have 
led to multi-agency action plans to take forward 
learning.   

  

P
age 126

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



17 

Data 
 

 

  

 

WSCC is the lead for safeguarding and records all 

safeguarding data. Concerns about abuse and neglect 
are reported using an online form and triaged by 
WSCC’s Safeguarding Hub. The following data 

provides an overview of safeguarding activity and the 
demographics of those safeguarded in West Sussex.  

The figures provided within this report relate to 
the first submission for NHS Digital and may be 

subject to change post-further analysis.   

Safeguarding concerns received and Enquiries 
undertaken 

 

 

 

This year, 2021/2022, there were 2,083 safeguarding 

concerns initiated. The number of concerns initiated 
each month ranged between 141 to 214. Of the 
concerns initiated, 1,337 met the criteria and 

proceeded to a Section 42 Enquiry. There were 5 
concerns which did not meet the criteria, however, did 

proceed to enquiry. An example of a reason for this 
could be due to an identified risk to others. 

Types of abuse people experienced 

 

 

 

It is important to note with this data that one 
individual may have experienced more than one type 

of abuse, therefore, multiple abuse types may be 
entered for one individual. 

This year, of the concluded enquiries, concerns 
regarding neglect and acts of omission accounted for 

542 individuals; financial abuse for 178 individuals; 
and physical abuse for 154 individuals.  Together, 

these three categories total 857 individuals or 79.42% 
of all concluded safeguarding enquiries. These have 
remained the top three categories for the last four 

years, which is consistent with the national picture. 

Neglect and acts of omission have been the most 
reported form of abuse over the past four years.  
 

Primary support needs of those safeguarded 
 

Of the concerns received where the Section 42 criteria 
were met, those with physical support needs were the 
most likely to require an enquiry. This accounted for 

475 individuals or 40.70%. The next category is those 
whose who had no recorded support reason, this 

accounted for 306 individuals or 26.22%.   

P
age 127

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



18 

Gender, age, and ethnicity of those safeguarded 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Of the enquiries undertaken in 2021/22, 691 

(59.21%) were for women and 463 (39.67%) were for 
men. There were 13 (1.11%) enquiries undertaken 

where an individual’s gender was not documented.  

As with last year, the majority of adults involved in a 

enquiry were over 65 years old, which accounts for a 
total of 738 individuals (63.23%) The highest 

proportion of this figure was for those aged 85-94 
years old, which accounts for 310 individuals 
(26.56%). 

In 2021/22 the vast majority enquiries were for adults 

who identified as White, totalling 935 individuals 
(80.11%) The data reflects the overall proportion of 
people’s ethnicities in West Sussex and is consistent 

with last year. Enquiries completed for all other 
ethnicity categories did not individually account for 

more than 14 individuals (1.19%). There was 183 
(15.68%) of enquiries where an individual’s ethnicity 
was unknown, and this was either due to this 

information not yet being obtained, or because of the 
individual declined to provide this information. 

 
 

 

 

 

Location of abuse  
 

This year, for completed enquiries, abuse in 
Residential and Nursing Homes accounted for 428 

individuals (40.30%) and 381 (35.87%) individuals 
living in their own home. Therefore, the most likely 
location to experience abuse remains Residential and 

Nursing Homes. Although West Sussex remains an 
outlier for this, as nationally most abuse happens for 

those living in their own home, the gap has reduced. 

Making Safeguarding Personal 

 
As part of a Section 42 Enquiry, people are asked for 

their desired outcomes. In total 655 (58.42%) 
individuals expressed desired outcomes. Of the 
concluded enquiries this year, 350 (53.43%) 

individuals had these fully achieved and, 315 
(48.09%) individuals had these partially achieved.  

How safeguarding changed risk 
 

For the enquires concluded last year there were 554
(63.75%) individuals where action was taken to 

reduce risk. There were 244 (25.77%) individuals
where the risk was removed, and 71 (8.17%) 
individuals where actions were taken, and the risk 

remained, this would include adults who have capacity 
and choose to live with risk.  

P
age 128

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



19 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 

  
The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) is part 
of the Mental Capacity Act and is a legal measure to 

protect people who lack capacity to make decisions 
about their care and treatment. DoLS has been 

scheduled to be replaced by the Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (LPS). However, further government 
guidance on the timescale for implementation is 

awaited. LPS will create a difference in administration 
and practice, but the focus remains on continuing to 

ensure vulnerable people’s care and treatment is in 
their best interests.  
  

Referrals received and the outcomes 
 

In 2021/22 there were a total number of 6,928 DoLS 
referrals being progressed. From the 6,928 referrals, 
there were a total of 5,373 DoLS assessments 

completed in 2021/22. Of these assessments, 2,611 
were granted and 2,762 were not granted. There are 

a total of 1,555 assessments in progress.  
 

 

 

 

Where referrals came from 
 

The majority of DoLS referrals were made by for 
individuals who live in West Sussex accounting for 

4,837 referrals. There was a total of 2,091 referrals 
for individuals who live outside of West Sussex. 
 

Gender and ethnicity  
 

The majority of granted referrals were for females, 
accounting for 1,773 out of a total of 2,611. This is 
consistent with the national picture as women tend to 

live longer. The majority of granted referrals were for 
White people, accounting for 2,385 which, reflects 

WSCC’s demographic. 
 
Primary support reason for granted referrals 

 
For granted referrals individuals were most likely to 

have had Dementia recorded as their primary support 
need. This accounted for 785 out of a total of 2,611
grated referrals. The second highest category was 

other mental heath needs accounting for 169 
individuals.   

P
age 129

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix



20 

Compliments and complaints 
 

In 2021/22 the Safeguarding Adults Board have 

received no complaints. A copy of our Complaints 
Process can be found on our website. 
   

In 2021/22, we received two compliments, one 
regarding how the WSSAB share published Reviews 

and accompanying learning resources, and one 
regarding our podcasts to say that they were of good 
content and the right length to support learning.    

P
age 130

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix

https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/about-us/contact-us/
https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/about-us/contact-us/


21 

Our priorities for 2022/23 

 

Based on data, audit outcomes, and learning from 
SARs, our Board has decided on three priorities to 
focus on this year. These are:  

 
• Safeguarding complex cases 

• Safeguarding older people 
• Communications and promotions for community 

engagement 

 
Our annual Business Plan details how we will deliver 

on these three areas and includes a range of actions 
to understand and respond better to safeguarding 
both complex cases and older people, and how we will 

communicate and promote safeguarding messages  
to the public and West Sussex agencies. 

  

P
age 131

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix

https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/statutory-publications/strategic-plan/


22 

Report a concern 
  
  

If you or someone you know with care and support 
needs are being harmed, neglected, or exploited, or 
are at risk of this, you can report concerns to WSCC.  

 
If you think the danger is immediate, phone the 

emergency services on 999. 
 
Otherwise, please:  

 
• complete an online adult safeguarding concern 

• Contact WSCC Adults’ CarePoint on 01243 
642121 

• Use NGT Text Relay for people with hearing loss 

(available as a downloadable App for tablets 
and smartphones): 018001 01243 642121 

• Write to Adults’ CarePoint at Adults’ CarePoint, 
Second Floor, The Grange, County Hall, 
Chichester, PO19 1RG 

• Phone Sussex Police on 101 

Contact us 
 
 

If you would like to find out more about this report, or 
the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board: 
 

Visit: www.westsussexsab.org.uk  
 

Email: safeguardingadultsboard@westsussex.gov.uk  
 
Phone: 03302 227952 

 
If you would like to access West Sussex County 

Council’s safeguarding training programme or would 
like more information on safeguarding training in 
general, please visit the West Sussex Learning and 

Development Gateway

Visit www.westsussexsab.org.uk 

P
age 132

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/social-care-and-health/social-care-support/adults/raise-a-concern-about-an-adult/
http://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/
https://www.westsussexcpd.co.uk/cpd/default.asp
https://www.westsussexcpd.co.uk/cpd/default.asp


Report to West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 

7th July 2022 

West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (WSSAB) 3 Year Strategy 

2022-2025 

Report by Annie Callanan, Independent Chair, West Sussex 

Safeguarding Adults Board, and Julie Phillips, Adults Social Care 
Assistant Director, Safeguarding, Planning and Performance, for West 

Sussex County Council 

 

Summary 

It is a statutory duty for the WSSAB to have a 3-year Strategy. The WSSAB Strategy 

for 2022-25 follows the previous Strategy for 2019-22. It sets out WSSAB’s vision, 
three objectives for the three-year period, and the measures WSSAB will take to meet 

the three objectives and the WSSAB’s priorities for 2022-23 in the form of WSSAB’s 
annual Business Plan. 

Recommendation(s) to the Board  

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to; 

(1) Actively support the WSSAB’s Strategic Plan, to improve prevention services and 

the experience of adults in West Sussex County Council who are at risk of abuse 
and/or neglect.   

(2) Provide feedback on how the Health and Wellbeing Board, as representative of 

the partner agencies, and within the Collaborative Working Agreement, will 
contribute to the WSSAB’s priorities for 2022-23.  

(3) Share learning and improvement which interfaces with Adult Safeguarding.  

 

Relevance to Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

The Four Boards Collaborative Working Agreement includes the interface between 
WSSAB and the Health and Wellbeing Board. The activity of WSSAB is relevant 

specifically in terms of enabling Adults who have care and support needs in West 
Sussex to be safe from abuse and/or neglect.   

1. Background and context 

1.1. The WSSAB was established in 2011 and comprises a core membership of 

 statutory partners from West Sussex County Council (WSCC), the NHS West 
Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Sussex Police. The wider Board 

members include a lay person, Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, 
Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust, South East Coast Ambulance 
Service, and members from the voluntary and private sector.  A full list of 

members can be found on our website. 

Page 133

Agenda Item 11

http://www2.westsussex.gov.uk/ds/cttee/hwb/jhws2019to2024.pdf
https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/about-us/our-members/


1.2. The purpose of the WSSAB is to safeguard adults with care and support needs. 

It does this by: 

• assuring itself that local safeguarding arrangements are in place as 
defined by the Care Act 2014 and statutory guidance; 

• assuring itself that safeguarding practice is person-centred and outcome-

focused; 

• working collaboratively to prevent abuse and neglect where possible; 

• ensuring agencies and individuals give timely and proportionate 
responses when abuse or neglect have occurred; 

• assuring itself that safeguarding practice is continuously improving and 

enhancing the quality of life of adults in its area. 

1.3. All Safeguarding Adults Boards have three core duties that it must do to fulfill 
statutory requirements: have a Strategic Plan, produce an Annual Report, and 

carry out Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs). 

1.4. The 2022-25 3-year Strategy provides information about the WSSAB and it’s: 

• Vision 

• Objectives 

• Annual Business Plan based on WSSAB priorities for 2022-23 

2. Proposal details 

2.1. It is proposed that the Independent Chair of the WSSAB, along with West 

Sussex County Council’s Adults Social Care Assistant Director Safeguarding, 
Planning and Performance, provide the WSSAB Strategy to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in respect of the WSSAB’s objectives 2022-25. 

3. Consultation, engagement, and advice 

3.1. The WSSAB’s partnership has been engaged and consulted in the production of 
the 2022-25 Strategy. 

 

Contact: Ru Gunawardana, West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board Manager, 0330 

222 28362, ru.gunawardana@westsussex.gov.uk 

Appendices Presentation Papers: Appendix  – 3 Year Strategy 2022-25 

 

Page 134

Agenda Item 11



3 Year Strategy 2022-2025 | 1 
 

 

West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board 

Version 1 | April 2022 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 

3 Year Strategy 2022-2025 

Version: 1 
Effective from: April 2022 

Review date: April 2023 

Page 135

Agenda Item 11
Appendix



3 Year Strategy 2022-2025 | 2 
 

 

West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board 

Version 1 | April 2022 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Contents 
 

What is the West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) .................................... 2

What is a 3-year Strategy? ............................................................................... 2

What we do .................................................................................................... 2

Our vision ...................................................................................................... 2

Our 3-year Strategic Objectives ......................................................................... 2

Our annual business plan based on our Board Priorities for 2022/23 ........................ 2

Board Priority 1: Safeguarding those with complex needs ...................................... 2

Board Priority 2: Safeguarding older people ......................................................... 2

Board Priority 3: Communications and promotions for community engagement ......... 2

What is the West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB)  

Our Board consists of a multi-agency partnership of both statutory and non-statutory 

organisations and a lay member. Members are senior staff from organisations who are 

responsible for robust and effective multi-agency policies, protocols and practices to 

safeguard adults from abuse. 

What is a 3-year Strategy? 

 Our strategy sets out: 

• Our Board’s vision  

• Our aims and objectives for this three-year period 

• How we will work towards these objectives in the form of our annual business 

plan 

Page 136

Agenda Item 11
Appendix

http://teamspace.westsussex.gov.uk/teams/SA/SAB/Protected/3%20Year%20Strategy%20-%20Annual%20Business%20Plan/2022-25%20Three%20Year%20Strategy%20WSSAB_.docx#_Toc101782782
http://teamspace.westsussex.gov.uk/teams/SA/SAB/Protected/3%20Year%20Strategy%20-%20Annual%20Business%20Plan/2022-25%20Three%20Year%20Strategy%20WSSAB_.docx#_Toc101782783
http://teamspace.westsussex.gov.uk/teams/SA/SAB/Protected/3%20Year%20Strategy%20-%20Annual%20Business%20Plan/2022-25%20Three%20Year%20Strategy%20WSSAB_.docx#_Toc101782784
http://teamspace.westsussex.gov.uk/teams/SA/SAB/Protected/3%20Year%20Strategy%20-%20Annual%20Business%20Plan/2022-25%20Three%20Year%20Strategy%20WSSAB_.docx#_Toc101782785
http://teamspace.westsussex.gov.uk/teams/SA/SAB/Protected/3%20Year%20Strategy%20-%20Annual%20Business%20Plan/2022-25%20Three%20Year%20Strategy%20WSSAB_.docx#_Toc101782786
http://teamspace.westsussex.gov.uk/teams/SA/SAB/Protected/3%20Year%20Strategy%20-%20Annual%20Business%20Plan/2022-25%20Three%20Year%20Strategy%20WSSAB_.docx#_Toc101782787
http://teamspace.westsussex.gov.uk/teams/SA/SAB/Protected/3%20Year%20Strategy%20-%20Annual%20Business%20Plan/2022-25%20Three%20Year%20Strategy%20WSSAB_.docx#_Toc101782788
http://teamspace.westsussex.gov.uk/teams/SA/SAB/Protected/3%20Year%20Strategy%20-%20Annual%20Business%20Plan/2022-25%20Three%20Year%20Strategy%20WSSAB_.docx#_Toc101782789
http://teamspace.westsussex.gov.uk/teams/SA/SAB/Protected/3%20Year%20Strategy%20-%20Annual%20Business%20Plan/2022-25%20Three%20Year%20Strategy%20WSSAB_.docx#_Toc101782790


3 Year Strategy 2022-2025 | 3 
 

 

West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board 

Version 1 | April 2022 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  
 

What we do 

We seek assurance that organisations work in partnership to deliver joined-up services 

that safeguard adults from abuse and neglect. The work of the SAB is underpinned by 
the Care Act 2014. The core purpose of the Board is to: 

• Ensure that local safeguarding arrangements are in place as defined by the 
Care Act 2014 and statutory guidance; 

• Ensure that safeguarding practice is person-centred and outcome-focused; 
• Work collaboratively to prevent abuse and neglect where possible; 

• Ensure agencies/individuals give timely and proportionate responses when 
abuse or neglect has occurred and  

• Ensure that safeguarding practice is continuously improving and enhancing 

the quality of life of adults. 

Our vision  

For organisations to work together effectively to enable adults with care and support 
needs in West Sussex to live free from abuse and neglect whilst ensuring that the 

adult is central to all safeguarding support.  

To do this, we follow the 6 key safeguarding principals: 

• Empowerment: Presumption of person-led decisions and informed consent; 

• Prevention: It is better to act before harm occurs; 
• Proportionality: The least intrusive response appropriate to the risk 

presented; 

• Protection: Support and representation for those in greatest need; 
• Partnership: Local solutions through services working with communities; 

• Accountability: Accountability and transparency in delivering safeguarding. 

Page 137

Agenda Item 11
Appendix



3 Year Strategy 2022-2025 | 4 
 

 

West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board 

Version 1 | April 2022 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our 3-year Strategic Objectives  

1. Accountability and leadership, to ensure:  

• Strategic leadership to continue embedding the 6 principles of safeguarding and 

active contribution to the prevention of abuse and neglect. 

• Compliance with the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)/Liberty Protection 

Standards (LPS).  

• Risks and how these may impact on safeguarding services are monitored and 

responded to. 

• Our policies and procedures, including pan Sussex policies, are reviewed regularly 

to support consistent and current safeguarding practice. 

2.  Quality assurance, learning and shaping practice, to ensure:   

• Effective quality assurance processes are in place to hold partners to account for 

safeguarding practice. 

• Multi-agency safeguarding data is used to identify themes and issues which can 

then be used to influence practice and effect change where required. 

• Learning from Reviews and quality assurance processes are effectively 

communicated and embedded into practice to facilitate organisational change and 

reduce risk. 

• Sharing our learning with other Safeguarding Boards/Panels and also, considering 

learning from other Board/Panels.  

• Continual review of Board processes to support effective and efficient partnership 

working for Board activity.   

3. Promotion and engagement, to ensure: 

• Partners work closely together to promote safeguarding messages and that staff 

in all organisations are engaged in new developments and resources.  

• A culture where all agencies’ staff respond to safeguarding concerns, engage the 

adult and/or their representative about how best to progress concerns and 

achieve their desired outcomes. 

• The involvement of adults and/or their representatives in shaping the work of the 

SAB and safeguarding responses.  

• Consultation with relevant community groups to ensure safeguarding resources 

are easily accessible.  

• Promoting awareness of adult safeguarding and how concerns can be raised.   

Page 138

Agenda Item 11
Appendix



3 Year Strategy 2022-2025 | 5 
 

 

West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board 

Version 1 | April 2022 
  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Our annual business plan based on our Board Priorities for 

2022/23 

Our Annual Business Plan is based on our three Board Priorities for 2022/23. These 

were considered and decided upon during a bespoke Board meeting in March 2022, 

where we considered data, learning from Safeguarding Adult Reviews, learning from 

audits, and work undertaken in 2021/22.  

The three priorities decided upon are: 

1. Safeguarding those with complex needs 

2. Safeguarding older people  

3. Communications and promotions for community engagement 

We will be taking forward our prioirtes in the following ways: 

Board Priority 1: Safeguarding those with complex needs 

• Undertake an audit of cases referred to the Multi-Agency Risk Management 

(MARM) Subgroup and analyse the audit results including a review of processes 

to develop an action plan. 

• Review feedback on safeguarding from those with complex needs and how this 

can be improved. 

• Where audit results identify similar themes from SARS, re-promote the learning 

resources including podcasts and consider what else can be done to embed 

learning.   

• Review the accessibility of safeguarding resources and processes for adults with 

complex needs. 

• Provide resources to support staff in safeguarding complex cases including; 

learning briefings, podcast, short, recorded presentation with promotion via a 

special edition newsletter.  

• A focus on complex case studies at Board.  

Page 139

Agenda Item 11
Appendix



3 Year Strategy 2022-2025 | 6 
 

 

West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board 

Version 1 | April 2022 
  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Priority 2: Safeguarding older people  

• Analysis of and response to data in relation to; older persons demographic, types 

of abuse, location of abuse and reoccurrence of abuse. 

• Undertake an audit of safeguarding cases for older people to inform an action 

plan. 

• Review feedback on safeguarding processes from older people and consider how 

to promote inclusion in safeguarding. 

• Where audit results identify similar themes from SARS, re-promote the learning 

resources including podcasts and consider what else can be done to embed 

learning.   

• Review the accessibility of safeguarding resources and processes for older people 

• Provide resources to support staff in safeguarding older people cases including; 

learning briefing, podcast, short, recorded presentation with promotion via a 

special edition newsletter, care home networks etc.  

• A focus on case studies of safeguarding older people at Board.  

Board Priority 3: Communications and promotions for 
community engagement 

• Production of new communications and engagement strategy, including details of 

actions to take forward e.g., publicity campaigns/events, flyers, newsletters, 

leaflets and posters etc.  

• Using data and audit outcomes to identify targeted areas for promotion.  

• Consideration of resources to alert the public and agencies in contact with adults 

with care and support needs of early warning signs/indicators that abuse may be 

occurring.  

Page 140

Agenda Item 11
Appendix



  

Report to West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 

7 July 2022 

Better Care Fund Monitoring Q4 2021/22 

Report by Chris Clark, Joint Strategic Director of Commissioning, West 

Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group and West Sussex County Council 

 

Summary 

This paper summarises performance against the Better Care Fund national metrics for 
Quarter 4 2021/22 and provides a brief overview of Better Care Fund (BCF) planning 

expectations for 2022/23 and beyond, pending publication of delayed guidance. 

Recommendation(s) to the Board  

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 

1. Note the West Sussex performance against the national BCF metrics at Q4 
2021/22. 

2. Note the BCF planning expectations for 2022/23. 

 

Relevance to Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

 

The Better Care Fund supports partnership working across the West Sussex Health 
and Social Care system. The funded schemes include multi-disciplinary teams 

delivering proactive community-based care, services for carers, social prescribing, and 
a broad range of adult social care services. 

Background 

The Better Care Fund (BCF) programme supports local systems to successfully deliver 

the integration of health and social care in a way that supports person-centred care, 
sustainability and better outcomes for people and carers. 

It requires clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) and local government to agree a 

joint plan, owned by the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB). These are joint plans for 
using pooled budgets to support integration, governed by an agreement under section 
75 of the NHS Act (2006). 

Better Care Fund Performance Q3 2021/22 

Appendix 1 shows metrics performance at M12/Q4 for the following metrics except for 

Metric 3 which cannot be monitored in year: 

Metric 1: Long term support needs of older people (aged 65 and over) met by 
admission to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population. 

Page 141

Agenda Item 12

http://www2.westsussex.gov.uk/ds/cttee/hwb/jhws2019to2024.pdf


Metric 2: Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days 

after discharge from hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation services. 

Metric 3: Unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions. 

Metric 4a1: Discharge Indicator Set: Reducing length of stay in hospital, measured 
through the percentage of hospital inpatients who have been in hospital for longer 

than 14 days.    

Metric 4a2: Discharge Indicator Set: Reducing length of stay in hospital, measured 
through the percentage of hospital inpatients who have been in hospital for longer 

than 21 days 

Metric 4b: Discharge Indicator Set: Improving the proportion of people discharged 
home using data on discharge to their usual place of residence. 

The Better Care Fund in 2022/23 and Beyond  

1 2022/23 

(a) Funding 

Funding uplifts are confirmed as follows: CCG Minimum Contribution increased 
by 5.66%, Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF) increased by 3.0%, and Disabled 
Facilities Grant (DFG) not uplifted. 

(b) Content 

Planning and assurance are expected to be broadly similar to previous years but 

with minor changes necessitated by the replacement of Clinical Commissioning 
Groups by Integrated Care Boards. There will be limited changes to the BCF 

national metrics for 2022/23.  

(c) Timing 

Publication of the Better Care Fund Policy Framework is delayed until July. No 
dates are available for the publication of full planning requirements. Once these 

are published, a 6-8-week planning window prior to the formal submission of 
plans is expected. 

 

2 2023/25 

This is expected to be a two-year programme with an increased emphasis on 
integration at place level. The policy framework for the BCF from 2023 will set out 

how the programme will support implementation with publication expected this 
autumn.  

 
Contact: Paul Keough, Better Care Fund Manager, West Sussex Clinical 
Commissioning Group and West Sussex County Council, 07920 817577, 

paul.keough@nhs.net 

Appendices Presentation Papers  

Appendix 1: Better Care Fund Metrics Report Q4 2021/22 

Background Papers 

Better Care Fund policy framework: 2021 to 2022 

Page 142

Agenda Item 12

mailto:paul.keough@nhs.net
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/better-care-fund-policy-framework-2021-to-2022


HWB Better Care Fund Monitoring Q4 2021/22 Page 1 of 5 

 

HWB Better Care Monitoring Q4 2021/22: Appendix 1 

Permanent Admissions to Nursing and Residential Homes 

Figure 1 Residential Admissions (per month) - 24 months to March 2022 

 

2021/22 Plan: Lower than 49.6 per month (average of annual target of 595.) 

March 2022 total: 12.9 (See note about data collection below.) 

March 2021 comparison: 64.9. 

Performance remains impacted by the after-effects of the pandemic; therefore, the data 
is not representative of normal patterns of admission. We have seen a significant 
increase in demand in all areas of adult social care, due to pent up demand. Adult social 

care is working towards reducing new admissions while increasing non-residential 
options. This is proving effective; however, the average cost of placements is 

increasing, due to market pressures and complexity of customer need.  

Please note that data for this metric is collected over an extended period. Hence, the 
most recent months will always show low figures pending full data collection. 

  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Plan Actual

Page 143

Agenda Item 12



HWB Better Care Fund Monitoring Q4 2021/22 Page 2 of 5 
 

% Of Older People at Home 91 Days after Discharge into 
Reablement/Rehabilitation Services 

Figure 2 Reablement (% 65+ at home 91+ days post-discharge) - 24 
months to Q4 2021/22 

 

2021/22 Plan: Higher than 78.3 percent per month (annual target of 78.3 percent.) 

Q4 2021/22 total: 58.0 percent. 

Q4 2020/21 comparison: 64.9 percent. 

In terms of the 91-day measure, data quality issues are being worked through hence 
this quarter’s figure should be treated with caution. ADASS feel that the 91-day 

measure is not fit for purpose and are looking to remove this measure and refresh 
ASCOF.  

West Sussex has several reablement offers that contribute to supporting independence, 
these include both home-based reablement and bed-based provision.  A local based 

measure looking at these outcomes would be more reflective of the local picture.     

  

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

Q1 20/21 Q2 20/21 Q3 20/21 Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22

Plan Actual

Page 144

Agenda Item 12



HWB Better Care Fund Monitoring Q4 2021/22 Page 3 of 5 
 

Unplanned Hospitalisation for Chronic Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions 

Figure 3 Unplanned Hospitalisation for Chronic Ambulatory Case Sensitive 

Conditions rate per 100,000 - 2010/11 to 2019/20 

 

Updated data unavailable. 

This metric is a measure of emergency admissions with a primary diagnosis of an 

ambulatory care sensitive condition such as: acute bronchitis, angina, ischaemic heart 
disease, heart failure, dementia, emphysema, epilepsy, hypertension, diabetes, COPD, 
pulmonary oedema. Data is released in November for the preceding financial year. The 

planned figure is set at the pre-pandemic performance level.   

  

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

2021/22 Plan Previous Years Actual

Page 145

Agenda Item 12



HWB Better Care Fund Monitoring Q4 2021/22 Page 4 of 5 
 

Length of Stay 14+ Days 

Figure 4 Length of Stay 14+ Days - 24 months to March 2022 

 

2021/22 Plan Q4: Lower than 11.7 percent. 

March 2022 total: 15.4 percent. 

March 2021 comparison: 13.2 percent. 

Please note the data used by the national BCF team to create and report on this metric 

is not directly compatible with trust-level operational data and the two datasets should 
not be mixed.   

Length of Stay 21+ Days 

Figure 5 Length of Stay 21+ Days - 24 months to March 2022 

 

2021/22 Plan Q4: Lower than 6.3 percent. 

March 2022 total: 9.0 percent. 

March 2021 comparison: 6.1 percent. 

0.00%

2.00%

4.00%

6.00%

8.00%

10.00%

12.00%

14.00%

16.00%

18.00%

14+ Plan 14+ Actual

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

7.00%

8.00%

9.00%

10.00%

21+ Plan 21+ Actual

Page 146

Agenda Item 12



HWB Better Care Fund Monitoring Q4 2021/22 Page 5 of 5 
 

Please note the data used by the national BCF team to create and report on this metric 

is not directly compatible with trust-level operational data and the two datasets should 
not be mixed.   

Discharge to Usual Place of Residence 

Figure 6 Discharge to Usual Place of Residence - 24 months to March 2022 

 

2021/22 Plan: Higher than 88.0 percent. 

March 2022 total: 87.5 percent. 

March 2021 comparison: 85.3 percent. 

This measure for discharge to usual place of residence has been constructed by the 
national BCF team around the 95% expectation in the discharge policy for Pathways 0 

and 1. However it should be noted that the policy was not intended as setting a hard 
target for these pathways.  

In West Sussex, this figure tends to be lower than some areas due to the relatively 

large older population, and the capacity of Pathway 2 offering which provides an 
alternative to discharge to usual place of residence where appropriate.   

 

Contact: Paul Keough, Better Care Fund Manager, West Sussex Clinical 
Commissioning Group and West Sussex County Council, 07920 817577, 

paul.keough@nhs.net 

 

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Plan Actual

Page 147

Agenda Item 12

mailto:paul.keough@nhs.net


This page is intentionally left blank



28-Apr-22 07-Jul-22 03-Nov-22 26-Jan-23

Items Lead Contact
Safeguarding Adults Board Strategy 2022 - 2025 Annie Callanan and 

Julie Phillips
√

Disabled Facilities Grant Cally Antill (CDC) √

Public Health Priorities 2022/23 Alison Challenger √ √

Learning Disabilities Awareness Annual Review Alan Sinclair/Mike S 

Smith
√

Annual Reports/Actions

Terms of Reference Erica Keegan

Lives and deaths of people with a learning disability 

and autistic people (LEDR) Annual Report

Allison Cannon 

Presenting/ Contact  

edel.parsons@nhs.net

√

Safeguarding Adults Annual Report Annie Callanan and 

Julie Phillips
√

Safegaurding Childrens Annual Report Lucy Butler
West Sussex Health Protection Grps Annual Report Alison Challenger
Public Health Annual Report Alison Challenger √

HealthWatch Annual Report Katrina Broadhill
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment Jacqueline Clay
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Alison Challenger
Standing Items
HWB - Local Outbreak Engagement Board Alison Challenger √ √ √ √

HWB - Children First Board                                    Marie Foley for Lucy 

Butler
√ √ √ √

Better Care Fund Monitoring Paul Keogh/Chris Clark √ √ √ √

Public Forum Chairman √ √ √ √

Public Health Update Alison Challenger √ √ √ √

Integrated Care System (ICS) (Incorporating Health 

Inequalities)

Chris Clark/Keith 

Hinkley/ Pennie Ford
√ √ √

Date of HWB Meeting 28-Apr-22 07-Jul-22 03-Nov-22 26-Jan-23

Venue County Hall 

Chichester

County Hall 

Chichester

County Hall 

Chichester

County Hall 

Chichester

Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) Work Programme 2022/2023
Meeting Date

P
age 149

A
genda Item

 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Children First Board Report
	Appendix

	7 West Sussex COVID19 Local Outbreak Engagement Board Report
	10 West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22
	Appendix
	Structure Bookmarks
	Document



	11 West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board 3 Year Strategy 2022/25
	Appendix
	3 Year Strategy 2022-2025 
	Version: 1 
	3 Year Strategy 2022-2025 

	What is the West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB)  
	What is a 3-year Strategy? 
	What we do .................................................................................................... 2
	What is the West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) .................................... 2
	Board Priority 1: Safeguarding those with complex needs ...................................... 2
	• Prevention: It is better to act before harm occurs; 
	What we do 
	Our vision  
	• Ensure that safeguarding practice is continuously improving and enhancing the quality of life of adults. 
	• Strategic leadership to continue embedding the 6 principles of safeguarding and active contribution to the prevention of abuse and neglect. 
	• Compliance with the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)/Liberty Protection Standards (LPS).  
	Our 3-year Strategic Objectives  
	• Learning from Reviews and quality assurance processes are effectively communicated and embedded into practice to facilitate organisational change and reduce risk. 
	• Strategic leadership to continue embedding the 6 principles of safeguarding and active contribution to the prevention of abuse and neglect. 
	• Sharing our learning with other Safeguarding Boards/Panels and also, considering learning from other Board/Panels.  

	Our Annual Business Plan is based on our three Board Priorities for 2022/23. These were considered and decided upon during a bespoke Board meeting in March 2022, where we considered data, learning from Safeguarding Adult Reviews, learning from audits, and work undertaken in 2021/22.  
	The three priorities decided upon are: 
	• Review the accessibility of safeguarding resources and processes for adults with complex needs. 
	Our annual business plan based on our Board Priorities for 2022/23 
	Board Priority 1: Safeguarding those with complex needs 
	Our Annual Business Plan is based on our three Board Priorities for 2022/23. These were considered and decided upon during a bespoke Board meeting in March 2022, where we considered data, learning from Safeguarding Adult Reviews, learning from audits, and work undertaken in 2021/22.  

	Board Priority 2: Safeguarding older people  
	• Consideration of resources to alert the public and agencies in contact with adults with care and support needs of early warning signs/indicators that abuse may be occurring. 
	Board Priority 2: Safeguarding older people  
	Board Priority 3: Communications and promotions for community engagement 



	12 Better Care Fund Monitoring Q4 2021/22
	Appendix Better Care Fund Metrics Report Q4 2021-22

	13 Work Programme



